A STUDY OF THE EFFECTS OF WORD-STUDY INTEGRATED SPELLING INSTRUCTIONAL MODEL VERSUS TRADITIONAL SPELLING MODEL ON FOURTH AND FIFTH GRADE STUDENTS' SPELLING ACHIEVEMENT

SONIJA ABSHIER SETTLE

A STUDY OF THE EFFECTS OF WORD-STUDY INTEGRATED SPELLING INSTRUCTIONAL MODEL VERSUS TRADITIONAL SPELLING MODEL ON FOURTH AND FIFTH GRADE STUDENTS' SPELLING ACHIEVEMENT

An Abstract
Presented to
the Faculty of the Graduate School
Austin Peay State University

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Education Specialist

by Sonija Abshier Settle

Abstract

The purpose of this study was to determine the effects of a Word-Study Integrated Instructional Spelling Model versus the Traditional Spelling Method on the academic spelling achievement of thirty fourth and fifth grade students. Fifteen students received the traditional method of teaching spelling (the basal approach) while the other subjects received the research based model. The results indicated that the students receiving the Word-Study Integrated Instructional Spelling Model achieved significantly greater than the control group and the experimental group also achieved significantly greater on a spelling retention test than the control group. The hypotheses were tested using the t-test at the 0.05 level of significance.

A STUDY OF THE EFFECTS OF WORD-STUDY INTEGRATED SPELLING INSTRUCTIONAL MODEL VERSUS TRADITIONAL SPELLING MODEL ON FOURTH AND FIFTH GRADE STUDENTS' SPELLING ACHIEVEMENT

A Field Study

Presented to

the Faculty of the Graduate School

Austin Peay State University

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Education Specialist

by Sonija Abshier Settle January 1991 To the Graduate and Research Council:

I am submitting herewith a Field Study written by Sonija Abshier Settle entitled "A Study of the Effects of Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model Versus Traditional Spelling Model on Fourth and Fifth Grade Students' Spelling Achievement." I have examined the final copy of this paper for form and content, and I recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Education Specialist, with a major in Administration and Supervision.

Wolsen A Hore
Major Professor

We have read this Field Study and recommend its acceptance.

Minor Professor

Third Committee Member

Accepted for the Graduate and Research Council:

ean of the Graduate School

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We, Ingrid and Donald Abshier, parents of the late Sonija Abshier Settle, wish to express our deepest appreciation to the following persons, without whom this finished document would still be tons of papers packed in boxes of various sizes. These persons are Dr. Dolores Gore, Professor of Education at Austin Peay State University, and Mrs. Pansy Straub, Elementary Teacher at Barkley Elementary School, Fort Campbell, Kentucky.

First, we recognize that Dr. Gore graciously spent many long hours of her own free time to sorting, organizing, and rewriting the huge volume of notes and various papers in order to complete this Field Study. We do not believe anyone else would or could have accomplished this task. We will always be grateful. Secondly, we realize that Pansy Straub very kindly volunteered her time in assisting Dr. Gore during this entire process, and we extend our sincere thanks to her.

In addition, we are sure Sonija would have extended her appreciation to Dr. Leon Sitter and Mrs. Wilmoth Wallace.

Their support was necessary for this Field Study to have been conducted in the Fort Campbell Dependent School System.

We know there must be others who deserve recognition; to these individuals we extend our sincere thanks.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

l l	PAGE
LIST OF TABLES	riii
CHAPTER	
1. INTRODUCTION	1
Statement of the Problem	2
Purpose of the Study	2
Statement of the Hypotheses	3
Significance of the Study	4
Limitations of the Study	5
Definitions of Terms	5
2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	9
Students' Needs for Spelling Success	11
Components of a Word-Study Method	18
Specific Word-Study Methods	21
Visual Memory and Imagery	39
Boys vs. Girls Spelling Performance	51
Summary of the State of the Arts	53
3. PROCEDURES	57
Null Hypothesis	58
Description of Subjects	59
Research Design and Procedures	61
Analysis of Data	66

	P	AGE
4.	RESULTS	68
	Summary of Data	68
	Analysis of Data	71
	Null Hypothesis One	71
	Null Hypothesis Two	72
	Null Hypothesis Three	73
	Summary of Results	74
5.	SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS	76
	Summary	76
	Conclusions	81
	Recommendations	82
WORKS	CITED	84
APPENI	DICES	90
Α.	Experimental Group Spelling Lesson Plans	91
В.	Control Group Spelling Lesson Plans	95
С.	Comparison of the Spelling Procedures for	
	the Experimental and the Control Group	97
D.	Progress Chart	99
BIBLIC	OGRAPHY	100

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE		PAGE
1.	Comparison of the Pretest, Posttest,	
	and Retention Test Raw Scores for	
	the Experimental and Control Group	70
2.	Mean Pretest and Posttest Differences	
	Between the Control and Experimental	
	Group	72
3.	Mean, Standard Deviation, Variance,	
	and Differences in Retention Test	
	Scores Between the Control and	
	Experimental Group	73
4.	Mean, Standard Deviation, and Differences	
	in Posttest Scores Between the Boys and	
	Girls in the Experimental Group	74

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Poor instructional strategies account for many of the difficulties children have in learning to spell (Gettinger 167; Graham and Miller 1-2; Kuhn and Schroeder 865; Horn 25-27; Fitzgerald 1-8). Some researchers have determined unsatisfactory spelling progress is directly related to poorly designed commercial materials and/or the absence of spelling programs and instructional techniques based on research findings (Mihail 34-35; Gettinger 167; Graham 560-567; Johnson, Langford and Quorn 587-588; Beers and Beers 573-579; Cronnell and Humes 59-64; Horn 25). According to a study conducted by the National Educational Products Information Exchange Institute, investigators using on-site observations noted ninety percent of instructional practice in the classroom is based on commercially prepared materials 1-44 . It has been found that instructional practices in spelling are influenced more by teacher habit than by research results, and improvement of commercial spelling programs is not commensurate with the research findings (Graham 561; Graham and Miller 2). Although spelling is one of the most thoroughly researched areas in the language arts, it is basically useless unless the findings are appropriately applied and continuously refined and expanded.

The current cry of "back to the basics," along with the demand students must pass competency and achievement tests, has increased the need for better methods of teaching spelling. In addition, with today's push for "teacher accountability," teachers are more responsible for helping all of the students in their classroom learn basic spelling skills. These skills should not only enable children to master assigned spelling words, but also assist them in learning to spell correctly in all subject areas. Teachers are responsible for providing activities which use instructional time productively. They must also create situations where children need to know how to spell and how to learn to spell. If students are to receive adequate spelling instruction, teachers need to provide children with considerable practice in the methodology of learning to spell using specific, independent, learning skills.

Statement of the Problem

What will be the effects of the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" versus the "Traditional Spelling Method" approach on fourth and fifth grade students' spelling achievement?

Purpose of the Study

The specific purpose of this study was to determine the effects of the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" versus the "Traditional Spelling Method" on fourth and fifth grade students' spelling

- achievement. Based on this particular purpose, the following questions were investigated:
- 1. Will there be a significant difference in the spelling achievement scores of students in an experimental group who receive instruction by the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" versus the control group of students who receive the "Traditional Spelling Method"?
- 2. Will there be a significant difference in the spelling achievement scores on the spelling retention test for the experimental group of students who receive the "Word-Study Integrated Instructional Model" and the students in the control group who receive the "Traditional Spelling Method"?
- 3. Will there be a significant difference between the spelling achievement scores on the posttests of the boys and girls in the experimental group who receive the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" approach?

Statement of the Hypotheses

According to the purpose of this study, the following hypotheses were tested:

- 1. There will be no significant difference in the spelling achievement scores of students in an experimental group who receive instruction by the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" versus the control group of students who receive the "Traditional Spelling Method."
 - 2. There will be no significant difference in the

spelling achievement scores on the spelling retention test, administered two weeks after the treatment, for the students in the experimental group who receive the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" and the students in the control group who receive the "Traditional Spelling Method."

3. There will be no significant difference between the spelling achievement scores on the posttests of the boys and girls in the experimental group who receive the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" approach.

Significance of the Study

Poor spelling, the inability to recognize, recall and reproduce the correct sequence of letters in words, continues to be a problem for children as well as adults (Gettinger 176; Graham and Miller 1-2; Kuhn and Schroeder 865; Horn 25-27; Fernald 1-4). Therefore, research in the area of spelling must continue to discover ways these individuals can learn to spell efficiently. Further studies should be conducted utilizing the tested, successful teaching materials for improving spelling, learning theories directly related to spelling and newly developed strategies for teaching spelling based on the current research.

This study was designed to test the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model." If this instructional model is found effective in increasing

students' spelling achievement, it could be easily incorporated into any spelling program. However, regardless of the findings of this study, it should provide valuable information for teachers who are concerned with present instructional strategies and student spelling performance.

Limitations of the Study

- 1. The subjects for the study were limited to students attending a dependent school system in the southeastern part of the United States.
- 2. The students participating in this study were limited to fourth and fifth grade children.
- 3. The teachers in the study included only those of fourth/fifth grade.

Definitions of Terms

The following are specific definitions of terms used in the context of this paper:

- Spelling The ability to recognize, recall and produce in written form the correct sequence of letters in words.
- 2. <u>Spelling Achievement</u> The comparison of the spelling pre- and posttest scores, from the experimental and control group, collected before and after the treatment.
- Model (WSISIM) A teaching instructional model which provides students with a strategy for learning how to spell words and reinforces this learning by providing

frequent practice through various activities which require the recall (from memory) of spelling words. It provides opportunity and strategies for immediate checking of the correctness of spelling words.

- 4. Traditional Spelling Method (TSM) A method of instruction which is largely based on the commercial spelling basal series, supplemented by having students write their spelling words, definitions and sentences with no form of word study or need for recall of the spelling word, merely copying required (Lutz 2; Gettinger 42; Graham 560-561; Cronnell and Humes 59-65; Graham and Miller 1-2; Hillerich 301-302; National Educational Products Information Exchange Institute #76; Dieterich 245-253; Read and Hodges 1763).
- 5. Word-Study Method A teacher-directed whole class and individualized instruction for learning how to spell words using a multi-sensory approach to form and retrieve the correct spelling of words.
- 6. Test study Test Method A spelling method conducted by (a) pretesting the students to identify words they can and cannot spell correctly, (b) providing practice in studying the words misspelled, and (c) posttesting students over the spelling words.
- 7. Study Test Method A spelling method which directs students to study all spelling words prior to the posttest.
 - 8. Inductive Approach An instructional technique

which provides students with examples and allows them to use logical reasoning to derive generalizations or conclusions.

- 9. <u>Deductive Approach</u> An instructional technique which provides generalizations, rules and examples which allow students to associate their relationship and draw conclusions.
- 10. Mnemonic Devices Clues used to help remember the spelling of words. (An example of this device is the phrase, "A friend until the end." This clue helps students remember "e", "n" and "d" are the last letters in the word "friend").
- 11. <u>Linguistic Analysis</u> An analysis based on the science of language, including phonology, morphology, syntax and semantics.
- 12. <u>Error Pattern Analysis</u> The analysis of student frequent and common errors or mistakes in spelling.
- 13. Orthographic Information The information one knows about spelling sequence; for example, "sm" is a legal sequence in English, "sx" is not.
- 14. <u>Serial Probability</u> The possible arrangement of letters to form a word.
- 15. Morphology The branch of linguistics dealing with the formation of words composed of units of meaning.
- 16. <u>Phonology</u> The system of speech sounds of a language.

- 17. <u>Grapheme</u> Letter or letters which represent a speech sound.
 - 18. Phoneme A sound in a language.
- 19. <u>Imagery</u> The mental images as produced by memory or imagination. The basic imagery types include: auditory, kinesthetic and visual imagery.
 - a. Auditory Imagery Mental image(s) one produces by remembering in terms of sounds.
 - b. Kenesthetic Imagery Mental image(s) one produces by remembering in terms of one's own movement; for example, remembering how to write a word in terms of lips, throat, and hand movement.
 - c. Visual Imagery Mental image(s) one produces by recalling the visual structure of an item; for example, recalling the "picture of the word" or the form of the letters of the word in sequence.
- 20. <u>Visual Memory</u> The ability to retrieve visual images from memory.
- 21. <u>Visual Perception</u> The ability to perceive an image (i.e. the letters of a word) in parts and as a whole.

CHAPTER 2

Review of the Literature

Spelling is a traditional element of the elementary school curriculum where a considerable amount of time and energy is devoted to its mastery (Graham and Miller 2).

Much of the content of spelling in the elementary schools is unjustly based on commercial textbooks. Current researchers have advised teachers to expand their instruction beyond the textbook or not to use them at all (Mihail 34; Lutz 2-3; Gettinger 42; Cronnell and Humes 59, 63; Graham and Miller 1-2; Read and Hodges 1763; Richmond 505).

Present lines of investigation in spelling methods have begun to look toward the speller's own strategies for clues which may be useful in making spelling instruction more effective. A functional view of spelling has suggested natural writing situations can provide important information about the spelling strategies used by writers. Words students need to learn can be obtained from their own writing, as well as researched word lists, words from all curriculum areas, students' daily lives, interests and needs (Mihail 34-36; Morris 4-21; Lutz 3; Radebaugh 532-536; Downing, DeStefano). Natural writing situations

also provide teachers with the opportunity to analyze spelling errors and help in delivering appropriate instruction.

Researchers have emphasized that the language arts are highly interrelated and spelling is an integral part of the writing process. Students need a lot of practice using their spelling skills in context (i.e. writing). In addition, the more meaningful words are to individuals, the more likely their spelling will be remembered (Morris 16; Lutz 3; Gettinger 44-45; Graham and Miller 13; Read and Hodges 1763; Richmond 502; Williamson 257).

Much of the language arts program can be directed to whole class instruction, where students' individual spelling needs, strengths and weaknesses can be determined, and they can be assisted in developing strategies for learning to spell. Research has emphasized the need to expand spelling programs to teaching skills in problem solving, self-correction, error pattern analysis and proofreading. Spelling skills can also be enhanced through the use of mnemonic devices and the dictionary. The emphasis on spelling should be that it is a skill learned for the convenience of all language arts with varied opportunities to use this skill in writing (Mihail 35-36; Morris 16, 19, 20; Lutz 2-3; Gettinger 44-47; Marino 173-177; Ganschow 676-680; Graham and Miller 1-2; Read and Hodges 1763).

Students' Needs for Spelling Success

Richmond conducted a study to determine the spelling needs of pupils in a sixth grade class. Through an analysis of students' writing the following was concluded:

- 1. The use of a single spelling textbook for all children in a class does not meet the needs of the pupils.
- 2. Many pupils of the sixth grade have not developed an effective method of studying a word.
- 3. Incidental learning should be supplemented by direct systematic teaching, especially in the case of difficult words of high frequency of occurrence (500-505).

Graham and Miller stated spelling instruction must be direct and not incidental (6-7). Each student must be taught an effective, systematic technique to study unknown spelling words. Allowing the students to devise their own individual method was not advisable. According to a spelling model presented by Graham and Miller, the major objectives of a spelling program should include:

- Helping students to become proficient at standard spelling;
 - Maintaining and promoting spelling growth;
- Teaching students how to spell words they use in writing;
- 4. Helping students to develop effective methods of studying new words;
- 5. Promoting students' use of the dictionary in learning to spell unknown words; and

6. Developing in students a desire to spell words correctly (6-7, 10).

Studies by Russell compared word-study techniques of sixty-nine retarded and sixty-nine normal students with the purpose of identifying techniques students used which led to successful spelling. It was found that retarded spellers tended to use an "unthinking attack" which utilized no clues nor other aids to spelling, while the normal spellers tended to use more active methods, with a check on their achievement. An analysis of the examiner's comments in the studies revealed normal spellers used "good" methods of studying words (based on such factors as methods of attack, concentration on the task, consistency, attention to hard parts, checking one's work, etc.), while the subjects' matched pair did not. A tabulation of results indicated at least twenty-eight of the normal spellers definitely used "good" study techniques, while about nine used "poor" study strategies. In the retarded group, twenty-four students used "poor" study techniques and only two used "good" study strategies. The following were statements written by research observers which reveal the techniques used by the normal group for studying words:

- 1. Method of study same for all words; prints as well as writes; spends much time comparing words;
- Method of attack is deliberate; thorough concentration;
 - Methods of testing himself;

- 4. Writing the word a few times seemed to help;
- 5. Tested self by kinesthetic and visual method on more difficult words; and
- 6. Consistent method of study; checking is adequate. (Russell 70-79)

The following were statements written by research observers which reveal the techniques used by the retarded group for studying words:

- No real method of attack;
- No attempt at system or method;
- Method of study erratic;
- 4. Wrote words ten times;
- 5. No real method and no check on learning;
- 6. Inconsistent; learns mainly by spelling orally;
 - 7. Lacked a definite check on learning;
- 8. Frequently misspelled word even though he looked at them while spelling; and
- 9. Had the practice of writing a word incorrectly three times or more before checking his performance. (Russell 70-89)

In further analysis of visual, auditory and kinesthetic methods of study applied, the results indicated the "good" spellers utilized auditory and visual techniques more successfully than the poor spellers. One of the most important findings of the study was the fact that poor spellers have not acquired an adequate technique of word study (Russell 70-89).

In studies by Hillerich, children who used some of the major spelling programs were compared with those who

followed the "research approach" to spelling. The latter spelled better after spending only three-fifths the time in spelling as compared with those who used traditional spelling workbooks. The "research approach" to spelling included (a) a word list of high frequency words (developed through a pretest with immediate correction by the child), (b) specific instruction for studying spelling words, and (c) a record of student progress. The data revealed children also need to be taught how to use a dictionary specifically for spelling, and teachers must instill in students a "spelling conscience" (a desire and concern for spelling correctly). In addition, children must be encouraged to do an abundance of writing to maintain and further their spelling skills. Hillerich stressed the word-study method is an essential part of a good spelling program and one that must constantly be taught, retaught and reviewed with children if they are to be successful spellers (302-304).

Gettinger conducted a study to compare the effectiveness of student-directed versus teacher-directed spelling instruction on children's spelling accuracy and retention. The study also examined the effects of initiating children's spelling errors alone and in combination with visual and verbal cues on spelling accuracy and retention. Nine children received four alternating experimental treatments during a 16-week spelling program. One experimental treatment included the

"teacher-directed without cues." In this approach, students were guided through a practice procedure for each word. In this practice procedure the teacher (a) showed the word on a card and said it, (b) removed the card, (c) instructed the child to write it, and (d) checked the spelling. Practice continued until the child had spelled the word correctly two times. Finally, the words were posttested. In the other experimental method, (the "teacher-directed with cues"), the conditions were the same as the previously described except for two additions. The teacher provided cues by circling in red the part of the word that was misspelled in both the error imitation and the correct model. Then the teacher told the student the difficult part of the word and instructed the child to remember it. Another approach was the "student-directed without cues." In this method the students corrected their own pretests from individual word cards. For each incorrect word, students carried out the practice on their own by (a) looking at the word on a card and saying it, (b) turning the card over, (c) writing the word, and (d) checking it. The last approach was the "studentdirected with cues," which included the same conditions just described except for one addition: students circled in red the part of the word that was misspelled in both the error imitation and correct model saying, "This is the part of the word I need to remember." The control group received no formal instruction. They were simply

Instructed to study and practice the words on their own. Training sessions were conducted in which the treatment was introduced, demonstrated and practiced. Students were required to carry out the student-directed procedures correctly three consecutive times prior to the actual treatment. All students received the experimental conditions. Results indicated that student-directed instruction which incorporated visual and verbal cues was most effective in increasing spelling accuracy. All four treatments were more effective than no instructional control which offered no systematic study or practice procedure, but provided for equivalent exposure time to words (167-170).

In agreement, Fulton pointed out that as far back as 1914 students following a systematic method make greater progress and retain their learning better than those given no direction for learning to spell (287-289). Horn, four years later, stressed the significance of teaching an effective method of learning to spell and the importance of using time in the first lessons each year to insure proper methods of learning. Horn also emphasized the greater value of a teacher-directed method compared to a less successful method which children use when left to themselves (70-71).

Gates has proclaimed that spelling failure is caused by the lack of an efficient method of learning to spell (1-19). Children should be taught to master efficient

techniques for self-teaching. However, often children are given a list of words without a method and they read over the list rapidly or recite the names of the letters, which is not a productive method for learning to spell words (Watson 50-68). James Fitzgerald wrote in his book:

It is mandatory that each child master and use an effective method of learning to spell . . . It seems clear that the child will learn much incidentally, but that his proficiency in writing will be improved if he is taught an effective method for the mastery of properly selected basic core vocabulary. (222)

In Margaret Peters' book, published in 1967, it was stated that learning to spell without giving students instruction on how to learn leads to haphazard techniques of little help to children (31). Gertrude Hildreth emphasized the use of independent spelling study skills. In a book entitled Teaching Spelling: A Guide to Basic Principles and Practice, Dr. Hildreth described the newer method of spelling instruction as one which seeks to make the pupil independent of the teacher's assistance in learning and mastering basic skills as soon as possible. Hildreth has written: "The chief criterion of successful achievement in spelling is the extent to which the children can help themselves achieve correct spelling" (16). Although not all children learn words by the same techniques or benefit from the same instruction in word study, they should not be left unaided to work out any spelling system (Hildreth 229). Strickland wrote: "Every child's interest in

spelling is greatly increased when he learns an effective method for studying spelling words" (75).

Components of a Word-Study Method

Ruth Strickland further stated that people differ in their methods of recalling the spelling of a word. Some remember the visual image of it, some say the syllables to themselves noting the sound pattern, others write the word and decide whether it looks right. Children, too, have differing degrees of sensory awareness and ability to stow away images of words. Consequently, all spelling methods should emphasize more than one sensory approach to spelling. Children who learn spelling easily will not continue to use all the steps in the suggested method. They will discover which elements or steps are of most worth to them, and will minimize or cease to use the other steps. Poor spellers may need a great deal of guidance and encouragement while they learn what adaptations of methods are best for them and what reinforcement they need in order to attain mastery (74-75).

attitudes toward spelling by showing students that spelling is personally important to them (563). One way a spelling conscience can be stimulated is by providing students with efficient learning techniques. An effective word-study method should concentrate on the whole word, require careful pronunciation, visual imagery, overlearning, and auditory and kinesthetic reinforcement (564).

Schonell wrote of the absolute necessity of emphasizing to disabled spellers the various sensory channels for learning words (the visual, the auditory, and the kinesthetic). A child or adult may be handicapped by one rather weak sensory channel. However, if such an individual is bombarded by several sensory stimuli supporting each other in emphasizing the structure of a word to remember, he will inevitably attend to and learn the word. Schonell further pointed out that the visual, auditory and articulatory elements must be firmly reinforced by writing. By writing, attention can be focused and help bridge the gap between visual and auditory symbols by successive production of the constituent parts of the visual form. This writing which gives children the feel of the word is vital to correct spelling. Schonell concluded, as children progress they become less and less aware of the visual, auditory and articulatory elements until they achieve the machine-like movement, which stimulates a chain reaction supplying the whole word. Writing, in turn, bridges the gap between visual and auditory symbols which involves auditory and articulatory elements (204-247, 297-340). In addition, Brothers and Holsclaw stated a crossing and integrating of visual, auditory and kinesthetic modalities are needed before the spelling of a word becomes a subconscious automatic process (25-28).

Gates and Russell advocated an elaborate and lengthy

diagnostic test which is designed to investigate and reveal the most congenial method a particular child employs in spelling. Although spelling disabilities are usually a highly individual matter, the eclectic approach to the remedial teaching of spelling is suggested. This remedial method of word-study relies on a multiple of senses which includes (a) attention to hard spots of words, (b) pointing out familiar word forms in longer words, (c) syllabifying, visualizing, hearing, pronouncing the word, (d) spelling the word orally, and (e) writing the word (30-41).

An analysis of Personke and Yee's model of spelling behavior revealed all spelling is processed from among a number of "complementary channels" (284). No one complementary channel (memory, kinesthetic, check, proofread, proofread-rewrite) is correct for spelling a particular word each time it is encountered. Adjustment in one complementary channel affects all other channels, and reinforcement of correct responses enlarges the store of the memory drum. The internal inputs, particularly of the immature speller, are subject to constant change. This shifting from one channel to another is the best indication of the complementarity of the channels, and the need for mastery of all channels of processing (284).

Westerman stated many channels overlap in learning to spell. However, some channels may be stronger within an individual than others when performing spelling and written

tasks. The channels used to detect preference included auditory-vocal, auditory-motor, visual-vocal, visual-motor and multi-sensory. Although the multi-sensory approach was recommded for children with learning disabilities, it should never be assumed that sensory "bombardment" is best for all children. An uncluttered approach is often more productive for the success of many spellers (41-42).

Specific Word-Study Methods

Fitzgerald stated it is difficult to present a method for learning to spell a word which will fit the needs of all pupils. But, it is necessary in group teaching to use a method that will meet the basic spelling needs of all normal children. Since the average child uses the four senses when learning to spell, the integration of vision, hearing, speech and writing should be used in the teaching of spelling (30-37). The following is a strategy outlined by Fitzgerald which has been used successfully for assisting students in learning to spell words:

- 1. Meaning and Pronunciation Look at the word.

 Pronounce the word. Use the word correctly in a sentence.
- 2. Imagery See and say the word. See the syllables of the word. Say the word, syllable by syllable. Spell the word.
- 3. Recall Look at the word. Close your eyes and spell it. Check to see whether your spelling is correct. (In case you make an error, do steps (1), (2), and (3) again.)

- 4. Write the Word Write the word correctly. Dot the <u>i's</u>. Cross the <u>t's</u>. Close the <u>o's</u>. Check your writing to see that every letter is legible. Check your spelling.
- 5. Mastery Cover the word and write it. If it is correct, cover it and write it once more. If you made a mistake, do all the steps over again until you learn to spell the word (38).

The crucial importance for normal children to have an effective method, such as these five steps of learning to spell a word, cannot be overemphasized. Fitzgerald stated: "The active use of such simple steps is vital to the success of a spelling program" (38).

Horn, as early as 1919, recommended a practice method for students to use when learning to spell words. This word study practice procedure proved to be superior to those developed by the teacher or the pupil. Through Horn's extensive research the following set of rules were designed to embody the conclusions of various experiments in learning to spell. Horn's first word study method included the following steps:

- 1. Look at the word and say it to yourself.
- 2. Close your eyes and visualize the word.
- 3. Check to see if you were right. If not, begin at step (1).
 - 4. Cover the word and write it.
- 5. Check to see if you were right. If not, begin at step (1).

- 6. Repeat steps (4) and (5) two more times (71-72).

 Horn, again in 1954, gave a series of steps in

 learning to spell a word. They consisted of the following instructions:
 - 1. Pronounce each word carefully.
- Look carefully at each part of the word as you pronounce it.
 - 3. Say the letters in sequence.
- 4. Attempt to recall how the word looks, then spell the word.
 - 5. Check this attempt to recall.
 - 6. Write the word.
 - 7. Check this spelling attempt.
- 8. Repeat the above steps if necessary until the word is correctly spelled (19).

Horn claimed these steps involve visual, auditory and kinesthetic imagery as well as an emphasis on recall. Better spellers may not need to follow all these steps habitually, but even the best spellers may find it safer to use them in learning words which may cause them difficulty. Poor spellers are likely to need special help and encouragement in using all the steps. The steps which require the recall of a word make learning a more active process, since it is the ability to recall the correct spelling of a word which is needed in writing. Therefore, the steps which provide for attempts to recall the correct spelling of a word should be strongly emphasized (1-32).

Russell concluded in a study that multiple and complex instructional steps were cumbersome and boring for good spellers and confusing and ineffective for poor spellers. The results further revealed that pupils should use fewer steps than suggested by Horn to learn to spell words. The method employed in this study eliminated all the steps but the vitally useful ones. This method, Russell claimed, centered on intense uninterrupted study and analysis of the word. If the students wrote the word correctly the first time, that was an indication of mastery. However, students were asked to write it a second and a third time to "stamp in" the correct spelling before going on to the next word. Using this technique, the forty-one pupils in a sixth grade class showed considerable spelling improvement during a five month period. The teacher thus contributed a major part of success to the learning of a simple technique for individual spelling study which had not been used previously (70-81).

This word study method was presented in 1962 by .
Gilstrap. The following were the steps tested by Gilstrap:

- 1. Look at the word and say it softly. If it has
 more than one part, say it again, part by part, looking
 at each part as you say it.
- 2. Look at the letters and say each one. If the Word has more than one part, say it again, part by part.
- 3. Write the word without looking at the book (481-483).

Ganschow who advocated the analysis of error patterns to remediate spelling difficulties felt that irregular words (those which cannot be predicted through a rule) must simply be learned. Remembering how to spell words necessitates the use of both auditory and visual skills. Ganschow recommended a multi-sensory approach for teaching children to spell words. The researcher also claimed the following self-monitoring practice steps help children learn words effectively:

- 1. The student writes the word on a sheet of paper folded into five columns. Correctly spelled words are written in column one.
- 2. In column two the student writes the word heard from a language master or tape recorder, then corrects the word using the model in column one.
 - 3. The student studies the words missed.
- 4. The student then takes the test in the next column repeating this process as many times as necessary to learn the word. (289-291)

Structure and Strategies, advocated the use of the multisensory-multimotor approach. The authors stressed that even if linguistic analysis and the inductive approach were used, the methods will not be completely effective unless sensory modalities and motor mechanisms used help entrench the spelling of words in the pupils' central nervous system. These modalities and mechanisms include:

ear, voice, eye and hand learning. Some children are predominately visual-minded (a visual image of a word is stored in the mind). Such children, according to Hanna et al., learn to spell primarily by looking at the graphemes which form the written word. Other children are predominately "hand-minded" in learning (122-124). Hanna et al. stated that children learn to spell primarily through the physical act of writing. This is an act which involves the muscles and nerve endings in the finger and arm so that a network of neurons is created in the central nervous system. Such children are likely to rely upon writing a word to be sure of correct spelling. Therefore, a modern spelling program should encourage students to use all available sensorimotor equipment when they are learning to spell. Hanna et al. placed particular emphasis on the sensorimotor processes of hearing and speaking. The sensorimotor process is "the foundation upon which can be developed a power to spell correctly a very extensive American-English vocabulary" (122-124). When using a combination of multisensory learning, ear and voice learning play the major role in a modern approach to spelling. In addition to the multisensory-multimotor techniques of teaching spelling, there are others that are Useful. The authors suggested the following type of study steps help in teaching pupils to spell the words when the Orthography deviates greatly from the alphabetic principles:

1. Say the word.

- 2. Look at the word.
- 3. Write the word without looking at the copy and say the word internally while writing the word.
 - 4. Proofread the word.
 - 5. Identify the errors, if any.
- 6. Restudy the word. (Study again any word misspelled by repeating the steps over again from the beginning.)

These steps should not be used to the exclusion of phonological, morphological, and contextual analysis of the phoneme-grapheme correspondence (122-124).

Fernald developed a visual spelling method for learning disabled students which consisted of finger tracing in the first stage. The tactile finger training sensory channel was considered primary, although other channels were emphasized. In stage two, after tracing the word, the child was required to look at the word, write the word without looking at the copy, and say the Word while writing. Auditorization of the word while writing was considered important because "it is necessary to establish the connection between the sound of the word and its form, so that the individual will eventually recognize the word from the visual stimulus alone" (4). Fernald assumed a complex interrelationship in the intersensory perception of learning, the route being from tactile to auditory to visual. Based on this hypothesis, the approach was to establish more effective visual

learning through the tactile-auditory channels. The fernald approach to spelling included the following steps:

- 1. The word to be learned should be written on the blackboard or on paper by the teacher.
- 2. The teacher pronounces the word very clearly and distinctly. The child pronounces the word.
- 3. Time should be allowed for each child to study the word. The object of study is to develop an image of the word so that the child will be able to visualize the word after the copy has been removed.
- 4. The child traces the word with verbal repetition, then writes the word several times on a separate piece of paper while using verbal rehearsal.
- 5. The child erases or covers the word and writes from memory. If incorrect, the tracing and saying steps are repeated.
- 6. Some arrangement should be made so that it is natural for the child to make frequent use in written expression of the word learned.
- 7. Finally, it is necessary that the child be allowed to get the correct form of the word at any time he is doubtful of its spelling.
- 8. If spelling contests are desired, a written format should be used instead of an oral format (40, 181-210).

Based on Ragan's book, Modern Elementary Curriculum, the "normal steps of learning" (269-283) should be followed in teaching spelling. According to Ragan, the

steps were:

- Initiating a first-hand experience with an object in the environment;
 - 2. Hearing the word applied to the object;
 - 3. Saying the word applied to the object;
 - 4. Learning the meaning of the word;
 - 5. Reading the word in a sentence;
 - 6. Writing it from a copy; and
 - 7. Spelling it from memory.

Ragan further stated that tests can be an effective teaching tool when they are corrected by the pupils and the results utilized by them (269-283).

Oral Spelling" method which uses a multi-sensory approach (53, 184). This method taught children to see, hear and feel the spelling of words through articulation and kinesthetic experiences. This approach also introduced students to words in a carefully constructed sequence which moved from highly regular words to words having regular rules to irregular words. The approach required adherence to a five-step procedure in which:

- 1. The teacher pronounced the word;
- 2. The child repeated the word;
- 3. The child spelled the word orally;
- 4. The child wrote the word naming each letter orally as he formed it; and
 - 5. The child read the word (53, 184).

According to Hildreth instructing pupils in an elaborate formal series of steps for word study (applied uniformly to all spelling words) is both unnecessary and undesirable. An elaborate formal series is unnecessary if the children are learning to spell words for use in writing that they already use in conversation and have met in writing. Also a formal series is undesirable because few children will remember to follow all the steps or have the patience to use the procedure with each word. However, it is beneficial for most students to have a brief list of suggestions for studying all difficult words. Difficult words will scarcely be mastered without study and practice based on a particular plan. Hildreth recommended that the following outline be reviewed periodically for the students by the teacher:

- 1. A familiar word is studied in written form on the blackboard, displayed on a chart or card.
- 2. The teacher pronounces the word clearly and distinctly while the pupils observe the word. Then the children pronounce the whole word or pronounce the syllables of longer words.
- 3. Time is allowed for each child to study the word. The pupils are instructed to (a) look at the word to get a clear-cut impression of it, saying it repeatedly, syllable by syllable, and (b) see if the word can be written just as it is said. (Do the letters agree with the sounds?) Special attention must be given to non-phonetic elements in words.

- 4. Students are directed to shut their eyes and see if they can get a picture of the word in their mind. If they cannot, they can remember the parts that are written the way they say them by pronouncing the word over to themselves or feeling their hand make the movements of writing the word. They should look away to test the visual image and their memory of the word and hard spots, if any.
- 5. When they are sure of every part of the word they shut their book, cover or erase the word and write it, saying each syllable to themselves as they write it.
- 6. Then they try to spell the word by writing it, saying the sounds as they write or saying over the letters, trying all the time to visualize the word correctly. The good spellers say the word over to themselves as they are writing it, sounding out the word parts carefully. The students practice writing the word several times without the copy. This is a step the pupil must never omit.
- 7. The writing should be compared with the correct copy to check results. The pupils should not stop to erase or correct an error. Instead, students should turn over the paper and write the word again. If an error is made, they do not rewrite the word more than three times on the same day. Later in the day students should try writing the word from memory.
- 8. Some arrangements should be made so that pupils can make frequent use of the studied words. The children may practice composing sentences or short paragraphs using the studied words (229-231).

Hildreth contended that the major aspect in the previously stated word study spelling outline was to get a clear-cut picture of the whole word as it is normally written or printed; inspect each word carefully and pronounce it accurately; put it out of sight and write the whole word picture from memory; keep writing the word from memory until the form is fixed in the mind. Hildreth also stressed that these steps can be taught as a class exercise. A chart containing a list of the suggestions should be hung in the classroom to remind pupils of the steps in the word study procedure (229-321).

Study worksheet and concluded an effective study method could be established by developing a worksheet that specified the study pattern in a step-by-step manner. Initially, in the study, the students used the worksheet under teacher supervision to learn each unknown spelling word. Gradually, the worksheet was phased out as the study method became internalized. They determined that an effective word study method concentrates on the whole word and requires careful pronunciation, visual imagery, auditory and kinesthetic reinforcement and systematic recall (i.e. overlearning). Graham and Miller suggested the Cover-and-Write Method (publisher unknown) as a word study technique. They recommended:

- Looking at the word, saying it;
- Writing the word two times;

- Covering and writing one time;
- Checking work;
- 5. Writing word two times;
- 6. Covering and writing one time;
- Checking work;
- 8. Writing word three times;
- 9. Covering and writing one time; and
- 10. Checking work (10-11).

From their research, Johnson, Langford and Quorn found that systematic word study procedures are superior to unsystematic procedures. However, there appears to be no superior system. Therefore, if children develop their own method of effective learning, they should be allowed to retain it. Consequently, according to Johnson et al., for children who do not appear to be able to develop a systematic procedure, the teacher should provide one and attempt to see that it is used. The effective procedure advocated by these authors for word study was:

- 1. Looking at the word and saying it aloud;
- 2. Covering the word and trying to imagine what it looked like (it might help to close one's eyes);
- 3. Opening eyes but keeping the word covered while writing the word;
- 4. Uncovering the word and comparing it with what was written; if the word was misspelled, trying again steps one through three; and

5. Having someone read the spelling words, writing them down as heard, checking spelling and relearning those missed by repeating steps one through four (584-585).

Edna Furness stated in the article, "Seven Signs of a Successful Speller," that learning to spell is a complex matter involving seeing the word distinctly, hearing it clearly, comparing what one sees with what one hears, recalling the word, writing the word and knowing the meaning of it in the context of one's own written expression. Furness claimed these are "the pieces in the pattern whereby a student becomes a successful speller"

- (2). The word study procedure recommended by Furness was:
 - Looking at the word closely;
 - 2. Pronouncing the word accurately;
 - Analyzing the word carefully;
 - 4. Writing the word;
 - 5. Comparing the written word with the copy; and
 - 6. Practicing writing the word (2).

Nichols concluded from a study that after four months of specific spelling instruction children made significant gains in spelling achievement. The areas of instruction included in the study were proofreading, word meaning, handwriting, and visual and auditory discrimination. The following activities were typical of the kind of instruction provided:

 Proofreading. (Cross out misspelled words in a paragraph. Find in the dictionary the correct spelling of words. Read one another's papers and check misspelled words. Keep list of spelling demons.)

- Word Meaning. (Select a word that makes a sentence true. Classify miscellaneous words under given headings.)
- 3. Handwriting. (Teach cursive to the third grade students and attempt to create a desire for writing and spelling accuracy.)
- 4. Visual Discrimination. (Flash card drill for quick recognition. Find in a list a word that has been flashed and circle it. Write flashed words after short time interval has elapsed. Select rhyming words from a list of words.)
- 5. Auditory Discrimination. (Listen for words beginning with certain letters or blends. Indicate word when heard. Listen for words that rhyme. Listen for certain letters or blends. Circle letters heard given a list of words. Listen to words and discover those which begin or end alike (154-159).

A spelling model developed by Brothers and Holsclaw pointed out behaviors which they determined were needed for accurate spelling in writing situations. These behaviors included:

- Copying, which means writing a word to match a printed or dictated model;
- 2. Proofreading, which requires the critical reading of all written words to establish whether or not they are correctly spelled;

- 3. Rewriting, which follows proofreading and means the correction of any errors one finds;
- 4. Writing from memory, which means consciously stopping to recall a word or a rule before or while writing; and
- 5. Spelling without thinking, which is the automatic and instantaneous writing of words without pausing to think about spelling (25).

According to the researchers, copying, proofreading and writing were the essential behaviors which should be incorporated into all study methods for learning to spell words. These three behaviors should be used with words in all the curriculum areas, not merely with spelling vocabulary (26).

Greene and Petty suggested the following method for studying the spelling of words. This method was provided as a guide to assist teachers in developing a spelling study method with their students. The guide stressed:

- l. Looking at the word carefully and pronouncing it correctly; if not sure of the pronunciation, seeking a proper source for the correct spelling; saying the word slowly and clearly while looking at the word; stressing each syllable of the word in sequence;
- 2. Covering the word or closing the eyes while pronouncing and visualizing the word. Next, trying to visualize the way the word is written while repeating each

letter in sequence, being particularly sure to visualize how the middle of the word looks;

- 3. Looking at the word again making sure that each word was correctly said and visualized, if not, starting over;
- 4. Covering the word and then writing it, thinking carefully how the word looked; checking the accuracy of spelling (if word was misspelled, beginning again);
- 5. Repeating this two or more times without looking at the book or at previous attempts; and
 - 6. Writing sentences using the word (263).

Nicholson and Schachter's model of the spelling process involved the integration and interaction of three elements: language knowledge, internalized rules and visual association. According to the authors, spelling instruction and application should incorporate all three elements in order to enable the student to acquire a variety of spelling skills and strategies. The first component, language knowledge, is something all children bring to the spelling task. Children come to school with a well-developed language competence which enables them to understand English words. The second component, internalized rules, enables children to predict and write the most probable spelling for words (i.e. "ck" is a phoneme which is expected to appear at the end of a word and not the beginning). The third component of this spelling model, visual association, was described by

Nicholson and Schachter as the "visual dictionary in our heads" of words in graphic form (805). The visual associations can help children to develop automaticity in spelling by storing some words as unique items (i.e. at, cat, hat, mat). Also, visual association can be used to produce a specific spelling of a word and as a verification to check the written form. This kind of checking behavior is defined as proofreading. Therefore, the strategy by Nicholson and Schachter for teaching spelling skills relied mainly on visual association. The sequence developed for this teaching procedure was:

- 1. Looking at the word;
- 2. Saying the word;
- 3. Closing eyes and trying to see the word;
- 4. Looking at the word again;
- 5. Covering the word and trying to write it; and
- 6. Checking to see if the word was spelled right (805-809).

Another theoretical model of the spelling process was presented by Simon and Simon. The researchers revealed in this model a technique similar to Nicholson and Schachter for recalling the spelling of words. One important phase of this model involved a "generate-and-test process" (118). During this process, the speller formulates a written spelling word based on stored phoneme-grapheme association information. This production is then tested using the stored visual recognition process. If a visual match fails, a further spelling could be formulated (118).

Visual Memory and Imagery

Cripps stated that sight is the preferred sense for checking the correctness or incorrectness of spelling words. Cripps emphasized that spelling is a visual and not an auditory skill (127).

Hendrickson proposed that there is a developmental acquisition of the visualization ability. The ability to make visual comparisons leads to the development of visual memory or visual recall, which in turn is the foundation of visual imagery. Mastery of the visualization process was considered by this writer to be an important function in spelling proficiency. Hendrickson wrote:

As the child learns to visualize, he learns to look and observe. He learns to see, listen and learn more. He learns to see in less time. He learns the visual ability of substituting symbols for experiences, and he learns symbol manipulation as a visual activity which, when adequately learned, produces a good writer, good reader, and good speller. When he can visualize a word, he can spell it, regardless of how it sounds. (42)

Peters in 1967 suggested that individuals should be directed to the visual channel because:

- Vision is our preferred sense, as humans;
- 2. It is only through the visual familiarity with written language we learn the serial probability of words;
- 3. Words that look alike form meaningful connections through their visual patterns (i.e. word families; and
- 4. Visual learning provides a check. We learn to spell a word. We look to see if it is correct. If it does not "look right" we learn and check again.

peters stated that "no other perceptual avenue provides such a mechanism of verification as seeing with one's eyes" (16). Therefore, time spent on spelling can be used effectively if children are taught to attend carefully to the word's structure, to look for the hard spots, to identify familiar word sequences within long words, to break words into syllables, and to exercise visual imagery (16).

In a later book by Peters, <u>Success in Spelling</u>, published in 1970, it was pointed out that knowledge of serial probability depended upon visual perception of the word. The knowledge of serial probability is not only a sub-skill essential to the encoding skill of spelling, but also for proofreading. Peters defined proofreading as the scanning of words which assists individuals in identifying unfamiliar letter sequences. Peters advocated that teaching proofreading skills to children leads to an increase in their spelling ability. Also, visual perception of the form of the word is one of the most important elements when learning to spell a word (76-77).

Marsha, Friedman, Welch, and Desberg developed spelling strategies based on the assumption that visual memory of a word is necessary in order for a child to understand and spell words with silent letters correctly (343). Horn reported that students' spelling achievement was superior when spelling methods emphasized the visual presentation of words. The poor spellers were reported as

being relatively deficient in using visual imagery. Therefore, Horn urged teachers to spend some time with students, drilling and recalling the visual image of words. Horn recommended that teachers instruct pupils to close their eyes and recall the spelling of a word, then immediately check the word by comparing it with the correct form (65-70).

Fehring stated that the human organism receives stimuli from the five basic sensory channels: visual, auditory, tactile/kinesthetic, olfactory, and taste. Cognitive processing of the sensory stimuli produces the information needed to spell the word and contributes to its retention. Also, Fehring determined that in order to write a word one must have a graphic representation of the word within one's memory. It was the observation of the writing of the word which led to the assumption that visual memory must be involved in the spelling process. Cues which come from the sensory channels assist in the retrieval of word information which may be a single or a complex interaction of these sense channels (1-61).

Fitzgerald agreed with Fehring that visual presentation and imagery are important factors for correct spelling when writing. Fitzgerald contended that the child must form a mental image of a word in order to write it from memory. The image of a word is established through the aid of visual, oral, auditory and kinesthetic processes. When developing a mental image of a word, the

use of all sensory channels increases spelling capacity. Fitzgerald pointed out when learning to spell a word, the word should be removed or covered, then the child should attempt to recall the word from memory and finally check for accurate spelling. The word is recalled through various sensory channels. Fitzgerald explained that in the visual channel the word is checked syllable by syllable; in the oral channel the spelling of the word is checked according to letter sounds; and in the motor channel the word is written and checked with the copy of the word (31-35).

Johnson, Langford and Quorn wrote that it is necessary to confirm the spelling of a word by comparing it with the image stored in one's visual memory (i.e. Does the word look right?). Words written repeatedly in quick succession with no check from memory for accuracy cause students' spelling to become a purely mechanical process (585-586).

Hildreth indicated that children who have severe problems in learning to spell need help with building clear-cut images of words. According to the researcher, children can obtain a clear visual image of a word by looking at it carefully as they think of its meaning and say the word. Hildreth stressed that students need to say the word many times to hear how it sounds and to feel it on their tongue (36-40). Hildreth also stated that auditory, visual, speech-motor and hand-motor impressions

tend to reinforce one another and make the image clear and deep enough so the child can recall the word from memory. In addition, review and practice are essential in order for a student to be able to retrieve and retain the correct spelling of a word. Children who have difficulty with spelling need many repetitions of the visual form of the word and this can be accomplished by using the spelling words in functional writing (107). Hildreth wrote that "a major cause of misspelling is inadequate acquaintance with the visual form of the word" (37). According to the research, a teacher should emphasize visual imagery as well as sound letter association, in order for students to spell accurately and to learn readily (37).

Fernald's book on remedial instruction indicated differences in the ability of individuals to create images of words. According to Fernald's studies, some people tended to get visual images of words, while other people either get no visual image at all or very vague ones. The individuals who received no visual images remembered things in terms of sounds and received "auditory images" (182). The individuals who received visual images pictured the word as envisioned. Individuals who received very vague visual images recalled the word in terms of lip and throat movement, or the movement of the hand as letters are created during the writing of a word. According to Fernald, most people get a combination of all three of these imagery types (182-187).

Kline reported that students learn to spell more effectively when learning by methods favorable to their image type. However, even when the learner used a multiple of methods in which some techniques were designed to be directly opposed to an individual's image type, the difference in learning to spell words was slight (381-400).

According to Peters' book, <u>Success in Spelling</u>, imagery is of great importance to spelling. Recall, whether immediate or delayed, involves imagery of some kind. The shorter the exposure and the longer the sequence of letters in words the more individuals must rely on some form of imagery to reconstruct the sequence. As children mature, their preferred form of imagery develops from a generalized system, which may or may not have strong visual, auditory or kinesthetic emphasis. The author proclaimed that relying on visual imagery to spell words is an advantage which can be taught (18-19).

Methodology for teaching visual imagery. Radaker conducted a retention study on spelling achievement which established the groundwork for a strategy for teaching visual imagery. The results of this study indicated that the spelling performance of the children who received training in the creation of visual images improved significantly greater than those who did not receive the treatment. In Radaker's study, the imagery practice

groups were given training in creating images of words on practice lists. Each subject had three-by-five cards containing the words. As each word was presented, the subject was directed to note the letter sequence. The subject (with closed eyes) tried to arouse an image of the word in large, glossy, black letters on a white background. It was suggested to the subject that the word be visualized as though it were projected on a large outdoor theater screen. Once the image was aroused, the subject tried to stabilize the image and retain it as long as possible with a maximum objective of one minute for each word. Unstable images (words which could not be recalled correctly) were stabilized by imagining that the words were created from large metallic letters with holes punched in the top and bottom to accommodate fantasy nails. To improve retention it was also suggested that the subjects imagine fantasy paste being applied to the back of the letters to glue the words in place. Following a two-week period, it was suggested to the children in the "imagery practice" group that they use this method for the study of spelling words (370 - 372).

Horng, in the field of visual imagery, used a technique similar to Radaker's. Horng's study for learning to spell words involved the use of three treatment groups. The experimenter provided imagery suggestions to one group while the second group was asked to form their own visual images to assist in recalling the spelling of

words. A control group was given no instructions regarding imagery. Horng's results demonstrated that visual imagery is subject to manipulation. Individuals unable to formulate visual imagery prompts for themselves can use suggestions from others to help them perform better and to retain more on subsequent recall tasks. Horng, as did Radaker, concluded that the use of suggestions or directed visual imagery prompts were necessary to assist individuals in recalling the spelling of words (203-212). These studies essentially confirmed an earlier study in which Kuhn and Shroeder concluded that increased visual interaction with words aids recall in spelling among elementary students (865-869).

In a study conducted by Sears and Johnson, visual imagery was compared with auditory and kinesthetic factors among upper elementary students. Each of the treatment groups used different methods of studying spelling words. The visual imagery treatment consisted of using suggestions given by the teacher. Radaker's imagery suggestions were used again as closely as possible. Overhead transparencies were used in this study rather than word cards to emulate a situation which could be used for large-group instruction. During the treatment, the teacher asked the students to look carefully at the words as each were displayed. Next, the teacher covered the words and suggested:

 Seeing if students could still see the image of the words in their minds;

- Imagining the item displayed on a large outdoor screen;
- 3. Imagining each letter of the item pasted onto the screen with fantasy paste; and
- Remembering the word by imagining themselves nailing each letter in place with fantasy nails. The computer treatment group used a computer program written for this experiment. This self-paced program required the students to give attention visually to the items as they were displayed. It differed from the visual imagery treatment in that no suggestions were given to form visual images. The auditory treatment method focused on correct pronunciation and the relationship of the sounds in words to letters that represent them. The words were tape recorded by the teacher by pronouncing each word, and then spelling each word, syllable by syllable. The taped lessons asked the students to listen, repeat the pronunciation and spell with the tape. The teacher served as a model. The kinesthetic treatment method required the students to copy each word two times. The study was conducted over a period of four weeks. The results following testing revealed that visual imagery was superior to auditory for both spelling performance and retention. The results also supported the hypothesis that visual imagery was an important factor in spelling performance

and retention, particularly when coupled with appropriate imagery suggestions (230-233).

A study conducted by Caban, Hambletom, Coffing, Conway and Swaminathan investigated a procedure expressly designed to evoke and enhance mental imagery in spelling instruction. The major purpose of the investigation was to compare the effects of three approaches to spelling instruction on learning and retention of one hundred-fifty eighth grade students. The instructional approaches were as follows:

- 1. "Mental Imagery" Treatment--Each of the subjects were given a word booklet, magic slate and plastic stylus. Subjects were instructed to take each word in the booklet, in order, and to attempt to form a mental picture of it, reproduce the word on the slate with the word booklet in view, then without. The subjects were instructed to check the spelling, erase the slate and repeat this process five times.
- 2. "Drill and Practice" Treatment--Subjects were instructed to take each word in order and write it ten times on a practice sheet.
- 3. "No Directions" Treatment--Subjects were given their own workbooklets to practice their words in whatever manner selected.

Thirty minute sessions were given to each group to cover fifteen words. The results indicated that the group using the mental imagery approach to spelling scored

higher than the other two groups on spelling tests administered immediately after instruction and again seven days later (15-21).

Judi and Walter Lesiak, and Kirchheimer investigated differences which distinguished good and poor spellers at the third and sixth grade levels on tasks which were selected to measure a variety of visual and auditory sub-skills. There were three tasks selected to tap visual discrimination and visual memory ability. The first was a word discrimination test purporting to show how well children rely on the length of a word, its internal design and external configuration to perceive a word. This test was designed to measure the ability to recognize a word as a word. The tests consisted of ninety-six items. item was composed of five groups of letters, only one of which was a word. The subjects were to select the group of letters which formed a word. The other two tests which tested visual memory were the primary and intermediate versions of the Durrell Analysis of Reading Difficulty-Visual Memory for Words. In the primary version, subjects were shown a word for three seconds and then were to select the word seen from a choice of five or seven alternatives. In the intermediate version, the subjects were to attempt to write from memory the previously exposed word. data indicated the third grade students classified as good spellers scored significantly higher on the three visually oriented tests than the third grade students classified as poor spellers. However, for the sixth grade children, on these three tests only the intermediate version of the Durrell Analysis of Reading Difficulty-Visual Memory for Words showed significant difference between good and poor spellers (491-494).

Radebaugh individually interviewed third and fourth grade students about personal strategies for spelling words. Both the high achieving and low achieving spellers were able to provide information about spelling strategies. The information from the interviews revealed that phonetic generalizations, a strategy used frequently in instruction and appearing in spelling textbooks, was not a strategy used by the students. Low achieving spellers tended to sound out words, letter-by-letter, or divide longer words into parts and proceed sound-by-sound. High achieving spellers indicated a much larger number of spelling strategies and were more likely to break longer words into parts and then apply common English spelling patterns, frequently using visual imagery (532-536).

A study by Fehring investigated the concept of visual memory and its relationship to the spelling process. The researcher examined the tests of a group of Australian elementary school children's attempts to spell words containing silent consonants. It was concluded, based on Fehring's research, that visual memory was necessary to explain the correct spelling of words with silent letters. Three spelling groups, consisting of three hundred and sixty

third and fourth grade subjects were administered a spelling test containing twenty words with silent consonants. These words were chosen from The American Heritage Word Frequency Book. The results of the spelling test indicated a statistically significant correlation between word frequence and correctness in spelling for each age group. An analysis of incorrect spelling attempts by students indicated an acceptable level of knowledge of orthographic patterns and the visual structure of words. Fehring concluded that the data supported the study's hypothesis that frequent visual contact with words is necessary for learning the English orthography. According to researchers, this knowledge can be acquired through teaching acceptable orthographic patterns, and providing students with extensive experiences in both written and oral language (1-61).

Boys vs. Girls Spelling Performance

Baldwin, in a 1975 study, examined the effect of teacher inservice training and knowledge of research upon teacher perceptions of spelling procedures and practices, and upon the spelling achievement of male and female students. Involved in the study were 70 fourth, fifth and sixth grade teachers in twelve elementary schools and their 1493 students. The teachers were assigned to one of three treatment groups. In one group teachers were given a copy of a monograph, which dealt with research-supported and nonsupported practices in the teaching of spelling.

Teachers also participated in five sessions of in-service based upon the monograph. The second group of teachers were given a copy of the research monograph, but no in-service training accompanied it. The third group of teachers were not given the monograph, nor did they receive any in-service training in the area of spelling instruction. The pupils of the teachers in each of the three treatment groups were given two spelling tests: one a list of sixty words developed by the researcher, and the other one consisted of the spelling section of the $\underline{\text{lowa}}$ Tests of Basic Skills. Following the treatments the same tests were administered approximately 4 months later. A third administration of the two tests was conducted 7 weeks later. The pre-test, posttest, and delayed-recall test scores were compared using the analysis of variance statistical test. Significant differences in achievement spelling scores between boys and girls were noted on all student measures, in favor of the girls (88-145).

In another study, the effectiveness of an instructional improvement project was studied by Broderius.

Teachers were provided inservice education in a class called the Essentials of Instruction. The content of this class focused on instruction (Teaching/Learning Cycle) and Clinical Supervision. This inservice education taught specific innovative instructional techniques for the improvement of the Language Arts achievement scores.

Teachers from two groups were identified. The first group

taught students using the Innovative Process while the other group used a traditional model for teaching. The California Achievement Test scores were obtained for 598 fifth grade students in spelling. Achievement gain scores were used to examine the differences between boys and girls taught by the two groups of teachers. The results of the testing revealed that students taught by non-users showed slightly above average gains. Girls seemed to score slightly higher in spelling than boys (1-25). Morton found that girls tend to be more proficient than males in spelling prior to receiving instruction in spelling (25-29).

Summary of the State of the Arts

The research revealed that children need to know a systematic method for learning to spell new and/or difficult words. Many students have poor methods of studying words and therefore should be taught an effective method. When referring to a direct word study method, most of these researchers advocated a multi-sensory approach. Although the visual channel was favored, it was recommended that all modalities be taken into consideration when developing a strategy for teaching spelling. It was noted that individuals learn to spell more effectively when learning by a method favorable to an image type. Based on these findings, it seems logical that if teachers teach students how to spell words through a multiple of senses, it will not exclude a favorable image type.

In close examination of the methods proposed, it appears the underlying "key" in learning to spell was the way one practices spelling, including the degree and amount of times the learner must retrieve words from memory. This basic concept appears to be excluded from today's classroom spelling instruction. Although it was evident that word-study techniques, which apply to this principle, have been around for a long time, these techniques are not taught. The basal speller is predominately used today due to the lack of time and/or lack of knowledge on the part of the teacher (Lutz 2; Morris 8; Gettinger 41-43; Graham 1-2; Jorm 1; Cronnell and Humes 59-65; Graham and Miller 1-2; Read and Hodges 1763; Russell 1). The basal spellers are still being criticized on the basis that children are simply required to copy words and that sufficient reinforcement is not required (Gettinger 41-43; Cronnell and Humes 59-65; Read and Hodges 1763). At the same time research has shown that to learn to spell one must have many experiences retrieving/recalling the word from memory. While some teachers attempt to supplement basal spelling series, many may be using ineffective techniques to teach the spelling of words, such as having students write the words five times each. In this case, children are simply asked to copy the words with no form of word study which has been shown ineffective. Writing sentences and definitions for spelling words by copying from the book may also be a less effective approach, if the objective is

to teach students how to learn to spell new or difficult spelling words. In reference to these activities, more value may be received from spelling lessons if applied differently and consistently with research. For example, following directed activities using the dictionary to determine the meaning and pronunciation of unknown spelling words, the students should write sentences with spelling words given orally by the teacher or a tape, each time checking the spelling of words using the dictionary or other dependable sources. These alternatives may provide more effective initial teaching strategies to promote greater learning of spelling words and better application of the words in the future.

In conclusion, although this review of the literature provides guidelines for developing an effective method for learning, it is not a total spelling program. A factor which should be brought out is that most of the individuals who have advocated a word study method also agree that the more meaning a word has for a child, the more easily the child will learn to spell it (Stoodt 303-304, 312; DeHaven 257; Furness 2; Hanna, Hodges and Hanna 170, 181, 192, 206; Read and Hodges 1763; Ragan 269-283; Horn 16-17; Fitzgerald 31; Nichols 154-159; Fernald 187; Williamson 257-260; Fulton and Paterson 287). Therefore, instructional time must be devoted to developing the meaning and use of words. A complete Language Arts program should provide practice to ensure that skills and materials

taught during spelling instruction are applied successfully in all areas of the curriculum. Thus, students need considerable practice in applying their spelling skills through various kinds of writing activities (Stoodt 303; DeHaven 247, 256-257; Temple and Gillet 425; Lutz 3; Graham 3; Furness 2; Greedy 235; Gee 212-219; Read and Hodges 1763-1764; Ragan 27-271; Greene and Petty 263; Hildreth 229-231; Strickland 76; Nichols 154-159; Fernald 181-210).

In summary, these points should be noted in reviewing the actual studies conducted. The studies using procedures to improve spelling performance may have been influenced by motivational factors. The special training could have given the children an increased desire to learn to spell the words. In addition, the achievement in spelling may have been due to concentrated attention to words rather than on types of training. In later studies it may be difficult to show evidence to support the contention that children actually use a form of imagery in their spelling behavior and continue once the practice sessions are over. These factors need to be considered when conducting further related studies.

CHAPTER 3

Procedures

The purpose of this study was to determine the effects of the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" versus the "Traditional Spelling Method" of teaching spelling to fourth and fifth grade students on spelling achievement. Based on this particular purpose the following questions were investigated:

- 1. Will there be a significant difference in the spelling achievement scores of students in the experimental group who receive instruction by the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" versus the control group of students who receive the "Traditional Spelling Method"?
- 2. Will there be a significant difference in the spelling achievement scores on the spelling retention test for the experimental group of students who receive the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" and the students in the control group who receive the "Traditional Spelling Method"?
- 3. Will there be a significant difference between the spelling achievement scores on the posttests of the boys and girls in the experimental group who receive the

"Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" approach?

In order to answer the questions instigated by the purpose of the study, several procedures were used. The procedures are described in this chapter under the following topics: (1) null hypotheses, (2) description of subjects, (3) research design and procedures and (4) analysis of data.

Null Hypotheses

Each of the three basic research questions served as the foundation for the corresponding null hypothesis. The following three null hypotheses were stated and tested at the .05 level of confidence:

- 1. There will be no significant difference in the spelling achievement scores of students in an experimental group who receive instruction by the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" versus the control group of students who receive the "Traditional Spelling Method."
- 2. There will be no significant difference in the spelling achievement scores on the spelling retention test for the students in the experimental group who receive the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" and the students in the control group who receive the "Traditional Spelling Method."
- 3. There will be no significant difference between the spelling achievement scores on the posttests of the boys and girls in the experimental group who receive the

"Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" approach.

Description of Subjects

The subjects in this study were thirty fourth and fifth grade students attending an elementary school located in the Southeastern section of the United States. The neighborhood served by the school was of a lower socioeconomic level in an urban type setting. The students attending this school represented a population of various ethnic backgrounds. The particular elementary school in this study consisted of approximately six hundred twenty-five students, kindergarten through fifth grade. The organizational structure of the school consisted of two grade levels within each classroom (i.e. kindergarten-first grade, second-third grade and fourth-fifth grade).

The subjects participating in this study included fourth and fifth grade students assigned to two different split classrooms. In each classroom students were homogeneously grouped in reading and spelling for a portion of their language arts instructional time. For the purpose of this study a sample of thirty students with similar academic achievement levels were selected from the two classrooms. These students' reading achievement levels ranged from the end of third grade to the beginning of fourth grade, according to Holt, Rinehart and Winston reading level tests and the California Achievement Test reading scores. None of the thirty students in this sample

had been placed in special education classes for the educable mentally handicapped or gifted, nor were any of the children retained or accelerated in their school placement.

The random selection procedure was used to determine which group would receive the experimental treatment and which would serve as the control group. The experimental group consisted of fifteen students, nine boys and six girls. The control group consisted of fifteen students, seven boys and eight girls.

There were two female teachers involved in this study. Both teachers had taught at this particular school for approximately eighteen years. The teacher of the experimental group had been teaching a total of twenty years and the teacher of the control group had been teaching a total of twenty-three years. The participating teachers had earned a Rank 1 which is equivalent to approximately forty-eight hours of educational courses above the Master of Arts in Education.

Permission to conduct the study was obtained from the Superintendent of the School District, Director of Instruction, and the School Principal. Parents were initially informed about the study through personal contact with a follow-up letter which explained the study in detail. No subject participated in the study without parental written permission.

Research Design and Procedures

A pretest/posttest quasi-experimental design which consisted of a control and an experimental group was used in this study. The total population of the study consisted of thirty students selected from two split fourth and fifth grade classrooms. Fifteen students in one classroom served as the experimental group and received the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" approach. Fifteen students in the other classroom served as the control group and received the "Traditional Spelling Method."

The "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" stressed students' understanding of the meaning and use of spelling words; introduced and monitored students' use of strategies for learning to spell words; required students to frequently retrieve words from memory through various activities with immediate feedback and provided opportunities for students to utilize independent spelling study skills. The teacher of the experimental group was supplied with a weekly outline of spelling lesson plans, based on the "WSISIM" to study and follow. (See Appendix A, "Experimental Group Spelling Lesson Plan"). All questions and procedures were clarified prior to the beginning of the study.

The control group received instruction based on the "Traditional Spelling Method." The "Traditional Spelling Method" of instruction was largely based upon objectives

of the lessons in the commercial spelling basal. These lessons were supplemented each week by providing opportunity for the students to copy the words and define or write sentences with the weekly spelling words. The teacher of the control group used the basal spelling teachers' manual to assist in teaching the spelling lessons. (See Appendix B, "Control Group Spelling Lesson Plan").

The basic difference between the "WSISIM" and the "TSM" included the following. In the "WSISIM" approach, instructional time initially focused on students' understanding of the meaning and use of the spelling words. Much student-teacher interaction and student practice was involved. In the "TSM", time initially was spent by the teacher explaining directions from the spelling textbook to the students. In comparison to the "WSISIM", the "TSM" provided less student-teacher interaction, which has an effect upon students understanding the meaning of spelling words and knowing how to read the word. Another major factor which differentiated the "WSISIM" approach from the "TSM" was the manner in which the students were directed to study the spelling words. In the "WSISIM" approach, the students studied the spelling words using a teacherdirected and monitored word-study method. Students utilizing the "TSM" studied the words independently and were given no formal word-study method to use. An additional factor which separated the "WSISIM" from the "TSM"

was the manner and amount of times the students were required to retrieve the spelling words from memory. For example, the "WSISIM" approach required students to dictate the teacher's sentences containing the spelling words, while the control group wrote the sentences independently copying the spelling words from the textbook. Another point which differentiated the "WSISIM" from the "TSM" involved practice tests. In the "WSISIM" approach, the teacher allowed for frequent practice tests to enable students to retrieve the spelling words from memory and to immediately check the correctness or incorrectness of words. None or few spelling practice tests were administered by the teacher who used the "TSM" nor was opportunity provided for students to practice the spelling words by giving each other spelling tests. The "WSISIM" approach and the "TSM" were also different pertaining to the manner in which the students utilized the dictionary. Students utilizing the "WSISIM" were taught how to use the dictionary to check for the correct spelling and meaning of the words written from memory. Students instructed by the "TSM" used the dictionary and spelling textbook to copy the spelling words and the definitions of the words. Finally, in the "WSISIM" approach, the teacher directed and monitored all spelling activities. In the "TSM", teacher direction and monitoring of students' spelling activities was limited. (See Appendix C, "Comparison of

Spelling Procedures for the Experimental and the Control Group").

The instructional spelling approaches for the control and experimental group began at the beginning of the school year to establish a routine and avoid change in instructional procedures. The spelling instruction period consisted of twenty minutes each school day for both groups. Provisions were made to teach any spelling lesson missed by a student. Therefore, all instructional time was equalized for all students in both groups.

Each school week a new set of twenty spelling words were introduced to the students participating in the study. The spelling words used for each group were selected from the basal, Basic Goals in Spelling by Kottmeyer and Claus. All students at the same level received the same spelling words. The study extended over a period of twelve school weeks and a total of two hundred words were introduced to each student.

A spelling pretest was given at the beginning of each school week and again as a posttest at the end of each school week. In order to test students' retention of the spelling words over a period of time, a test containing fifty words was administered two weeks after the treatment was completed. The words for the test were randomly selected from the words studied during the experiment. Performance measures included: (a) number of correct words on pretests, (b) number of correct words on posttests, and

(c) number of correct words on retention tests. The total raw scores on the tests from the experimental group and the control group were calculated and compared to each other to measure spelling achievement.

In both groups all tests were administered in the following manner. The teacher (a) pronounced the word clearly for the student, (b) used the word in a sentence to show its meaning, (c) repronounced the word clearly again for the students, and (d) provided sufficient time for the subjects to write the word before continuing to the next word on the test.

All the tests from each group were scored by the researcher. One-third of each student's papers (pretests, posttests and retention tests) were checked by an independent grader. In every case interrater scoring agreement for accuracy or inaccuracy of individual words was 100%. On the pretests/posttests, incorrect responses were written out correctly beside the incorrect spelling for each student in both groups. All weekly pretests/ posttests were returned to the students on the next school day. For the experimental group the teacher used the pretests to identify the most frequently misspelled words, so they could be focused upon during the weekly lessons. On the day after the pretests, students in the experimental group recorded the number of correct spelling words from the pretest on the chart in the individual spelling folder (See Appendix D, "Progress Chart"). Tests were kept in

the subjects' folders for the students' reference. In the control group the graded pretests were returned to the students to examine and use as preferred. No formal directions were given by the teacher. The teacher did not use the test for instructional purposes during the remainder of the week.

Analysis of Data

The data for the two groups were summarized in the following manner. Each student was identified in terms of gender and belonging to the control or experimental group. The data were then summarized in terms of the number of words spelled correctly on the pretests, posttests and retention tests. The three null hypotheses were tested as follows:

Hypothesis One

The statistical <u>t</u>-test of independence for even groups was used to determine whether the difference between the spelling achievement scores obtained from the ten weekly posttests of the experimental and the control group were statistically significant at the .05 level of confidence.

Hypothesis Two

The statistical \underline{t} -test of independence for even groups was used to determine whether the difference between the spelling achievement scores on the retention test for the experimental and control group were statistically significant at the .05 level of confidence.

Hypothesis Three

The statistical <u>t</u>-test of independence for uneven groups was used to determine whether the difference between the spelling achievement scores of the boys and girls who received the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" approach were statistically significant at the .05 level of confidence.

CHAPTER 4

Results

This chapter contains a summary of the data and tests of the hypotheses related to the study. The data were summarized and analyzed according to the procedures outlined in Chapter 3. The data analysis consisted of statistical testing of each of the three null hypotheses. For this purpose, appropriate data were extracted and shown in tables indicating the results for each test. A summary of the results completes the chapter.

Summary of Data

The data consisted of points accumulated for words spelled correctly. Each word spelled correctly accounted for one point on the pretests, posttests and retention tests. Weekly total points equaled twenty on each preand posttest. Points available on the retention test were fifty. The total possible score obtainable on the pre- or posttests was three thousand points, and seven hundred and fifty points on the retention test.

The total pretest raw score for the experimental group was 1949 and 1932 for the control group. Inspection of the total pretest raw scores revealed a seventeen point difference between the experimental and the control group.

Given the large number of total points available, there was less than one percentage point between the two groups. The pretest raw scores ranged from 53 to 178 for the experimental group and from 92 to 172 for the control groups.

The total posttest raw scores for the experimental group was 2776 and 2509 for the control group. Examination of the posttest total raw scores revealed a 267 point difference between the experimental group and the control group. There was a sizable difference of 8.01 percentage points between the two groups. The posttest scores showed a range of 139 to 199 for the experimental group and a range of 121 to 192 for the control group.

The total retention test raw scores for the experimental group was 628 and 514 for the control group.

Comparison of the retention test total raw scores showed a 114 point difference between the experimental and the control group. The calculations showed a difference of 8.55 percentage points between the two groups.

In the experimental group, there was a difference of 827 points between the total pretest and posttest raw scores. In the control group, there was a difference of 577 points between the total pretest and posttest raw scores. Comparing the scores of the experimental group against the scores of the control group, the experimental group was 250 points higher on the posttest with a gain of 233 points. In the experimental group it was noted that the highest individual score gain from pretest to posttest

was 112 points, while the highest individual score gain from pretest to posttest for the control group was 79 points. In the experimental group the lowest individual score gain from pretest to posttest was 21 points, while the lowest score gain from the pretest to posttest for the control group was 19 points. Table 1 shows the comparison of the raw scores from the pretests, posttests, and retention tests for the experimental and control group.

Table 1

Comparison of the Pretest, Posttest, and Retention Test
Raw Scores for the Experimental and Control Group

Total	Pretest			Posttest			Retention Test		
tudent lumber	E	С	D	E	С	D	E	С	D
1	178	172	6	199	192	7	50	46	4
2	172	158	14	198	188	10	49	43	6
3	170	151	19	197	174	23	49	39	10
4	166	150	16	199	169	30	47	32	15
5	164	145	19	195	189	6	46	44	2
6	152	145	7	193	192	1	48	39	9
7	152	131	21	187	170	17	43	35	8
8	141	120	21	196	152	44	45	37	8
9	138	118	20	184	176	8	39	34	5
10	125	117	8	196	155	41	45	35	10
11	98	115	17	166	156	10	24	32	8
12	89	114	25	176	153	23	38	26	12
13	86	109	23	174	188	14	28	19	9
14	65	95	30	177	121	56	36	27	9
15		92	39	139	134	5	41	26	15
otal	53 1949	1932	17	2776	2509	267	628	514	114

^{*}E=Experimental Group

C=Control Group

D=Differences

Analysis of Data

Null Hypothesis One

^Ho1: There is no significant difference in the spelling achievement posttest scores of the students in the experimental group who receive instruction by the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" versus the control group of students who receive the "Traditional Spelling Method." A statistical t-test of independence for even groups was applied to determine the difference between the mean total posttest scores of the experimental group and the control group. A t value equal to or greater than 2.048 would have been necessary to exceed the 0.05 level of significance. Therefore, the difference between the total mean spelling scores obtained from the posttests of the experimental and control group were statistically significant at the 0.05 level of confidence. The difference between the spelling scores obtained from the pretests of the experimental and control group were not statistically significant at the 0.05 level of confidence. indicating that groups were initially closely correlated. Further inspection of the data shows that the variance on the pretest was greater for the experimental group than for the control group, suggesting that the scores were initially more widely separated. However, following treatment, the variance was closer for the experimental group. Accordingly, the null hypothesis was rejected and it was concluded that the mean spelling scores of the posttests of the participants in the experimental group were significantly greater than the mean spelling scores of the total posttests of the students in the control group. This information is illustrated in Table 2.

Table 2

Mean Pretest and Posttest Differences Between the Control and Experimental Group

est	Exper Y	imental G S	S S	Y Con	trol Gro	S	Y Di	fferences S	s	t- · value
1	129.93	1720.92	41.48	128.8	558.74	23.63	1.13	1162.18	17.85	.0919
2	185.06	275.63	16.60	167.26	474.92	21.79	17.80	199.29	5.19	2.51

^{*}Significant at the .05 level of confidence.

Null Hypothesis Two

spelling achievement scores on the spelling retention test for the experimental group of students who received the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" and the students in the control group who received the "Traditional Spelling Method." A statistical t-test of independence for even groups was applied to determine the difference between the mean spelling achievement scores obtained from the total retention test scores in the experimental group and the control group. The difference between the mean spelling achievement scores on the retention tests of the experimental and the control group

^{1 =} Pretest

^{2 =} Posttest

were statistically significant at the .05 level of confidence. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected and it was concluded that the mean spelling achievement scores on the retention tests of the students in the sample receiving the experimental treatment were significantly greater than the mean achievement spelling scores on the retention tests of students in the control group. Table 3 shows a comparison of the two scores.

Table 3

Mean, Standard Deviation, Variance, and Differences in Retention Test Scores Between the Control and Experimental Group

	Group	0		
	Experimental	Control	Differences	t-value
\overline{X}	34.27	41.87	7.6	*2.72
s^2	56.78	59.98	3.2	
S	7.53	7.74	.21	

^{*}Significant at the .05 level of confidence, p 2.048. l+l critical t, p 0.05, $\rm H_{\odot}$ rejected.

Null Hypothesis Three

There is no significant difference between the spelling achievement scores on the posttests of the boys and girls in the experimental group who receive the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" approach. A t-test of independence for uneven groups was applied to determine the difference between the mean spelling achievement scores

obtained from the ten weekly posttests for the experimental The difference between the mean spelling achievement scores obtained from the posttests of the experimental boys and girls was not statistically significant at the .05 level of confidence. A t-value equal to or greater than 2.16 would have been necessary to exceed the .05 level of significance. Accordingly, the null hypothesis was accepted and it was concluded that the mean achievement scores from the total posttests of the boys in the experimental group were not significantly greater than the mean spelling achievement scores from the total posttests of the girls in the same experimental group. (See Table 4).

Table 4 Mean, Standard Deviation, and Differences in Posttest Scores Between the Boys and Girls in the Experimental Group

	Boys	up Girls	Differences	t-value
\overline{X}	179.44	193,5	14.06	1.714
S	18.31	9.65	8.66	

2.16

Summary of Results

For the experimental group of students receiving instruction by the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" the mean spelling achievement scores on the total posttests were significantly greater than the mean achievement spelling scores on the total posttests of the students in the control group receiving the "Traditional Spelling Method." The mean spelling achievement scores on the retention test of students in the experimental group were also significantly greater than the mean achievement spelling scores on the retention test of students in the control group. In addition, no significant difference was found in the mean achievement scores on the total posttests between the boys and girls in the sample receiving instruction by the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model."

The "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" approach appears to be as beneficial for boys as it is for girls. Further implications reveal the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" approach may be a more effective teaching method for increasing boys and girls spelling achievement level than the "Traditional Spelling Method" at the fourth and fifth grade level.

CHAPTER 5

Summary, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Summary

The purpose of the study was to investigate the effects of the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" versus the "Traditional Spelling Method" on fourth and fifth grade students' spelling achievement. The study focused on three research questions:

- 1. Will there be a significant difference in the spelling achievement scores of students in the experimental group who receive instruction by the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" versus the control group of students who receive the "Traditional Spelling Method"?
- 2. Will there be a significant difference in the spelling achievement scores on the spelling retention test for the experimental group of students who receive the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" and the students in the control group who receive the "Traditional Spelling Method"?
- 3. Will there be a significant difference between the spelling achievement scores on the posttests of the boys and girls in the experimental group who receive the "Word-Study Integrated Spelling Instructional Model" approach?

A review of the literature was used as a foundation to develop the strategies incorporated into the "Word-study Integrated Instructional Model." These strategies included the following:

- 1. Students' spelling achievement improves when utilizing a systematic method for learning to spell new and/or difficult words.
- 2. Children's spelling improvement is related to word study methods which utilize a multi-sensory approach.
- 3. Subjects' spelling performance is affected by the degree and amount of times words are retrieved from memory.
- 4. Individuals' spelling achievement coincides with the understanding of the meaning of spelling words.
- 5. Students' spelling ability is affiliated with the application of spelling words in various kinds of writing.

While the literature described a number of studies offering evidence that these teaching strategies incorporated into the "WSISIM" would have an impact on academic performance, none of the sources available dealt directly with "WSISIM." Therefore, the present study was specifically designed to investigate the relationship between the program developed and the students' spelling achievement.

The literature review supplied ample evidence that children need to know a systematic method for learning to spell new and/or difficult words. When referring to a direct word study method, most researchers advocated a multi-sensory approach. In addition, it was found the

degree and amount of time used by learners to retrieve words from memory was critical to learning to spell. Also, the more meaning a word had for children the more easily the spelling of the word was learned. Therefore, students need considerable practice in applying spelling skills through various kinds of writing activities. However, evidence in the literature suggested that teachers do not apply these basic principles to teach spelling.

The empirical part of the study involved a sample of thirty fourth and fifth grade students which included fourteen girls and sixteen boys. The elementary school where the study was conducted was located in the southeastern section of the United States. A pretest/posttest quasiexperimental design which consisted of a control and an experimental group was used in this study. Fifteen students in one classroom served as the experimental group and received the "WSISIM" approach. Fifteen other students in another classroom served as the control group and received the "TSM". Students' spelling performance was measured prior to and following the treatments. Performance measures included: (a) number of correct words on pretests, (b) number of correct words on posttests, and (c) number of correct words on retention tests. The total raw scores obtained from the experimental group and the control group were calculated and compared to each other to measure spelling achievement.

The data consisted of points accumulated for words

spelled correctly. Each word spelled correctly accounted for one point on the pretest, posttest and retention tests. The data were analyzed at the 0.05 level of confidence using \underline{t} tests. For the experimental group of students receiving instruction by the "WSISIM" the mean spelling achievement scores on the total posttests were significantly greater than the mean achievement spelling scores on the total posttests of the students in the control group receiving the "TSM". The mean spelling achievement scores on the retention test of students in the sample receiving instruction by the "WSISIM" were also significantly greater than the mean achievement spelling scores on the retention tests of students in the sample receiving instruction by the "TSM". There was no significant difference between the total spelling achievement pretest scores of the experimental group and control group. In addition, no significant difference was found in the mean achievement scores on the total posttests between the boys and girls in the sample receiving instruction by the "WSISIM".

When examining the range differences in raw scores on pretests, posttests and the retention test the following information was identified:

1. The pretest raw scores exposed a range of 125 points for the experimental group and a range of 80 points for the control group, a difference of 45 points between the two groups. In other words, the experimental group of scores on the pretest were more spread out than those of the control group on the same pretest.

- 2. The posttest raw scores revealed a range of 60 points for the experimental group and a range of 71 points for the control group, a difference of 11 points between the two groups. Although both group scores moved closer to the mean on the posttest, the experimental group scores moved much closer around the mean in relation to the range of scores on the pretest. A total difference of 65 points closer for the experimental group and nine points closer for the control group, from pretest to posttest. A total gain difference of 56 points for the experimental group.
- 3. The retention test raw scores exhibited a range of 26 points for the experimental group and a range of 25 points for the control group, with a difference of one point. Although, there was a significant difference in the spelling retention test scores of the experimental group and the control, in favor of the experimental group. This data is illustrated in Table 1.

A statistical <u>t</u>-test of independence for even groups was applied to determine the relationship between the mean spelling achievement pretest scores of the experimental and control group. Comparison of the two groups demonstrated that the scores of the experimental group were much more spread out than the scores of the control group. However, the difference between the spelling scores obtained from the pretests of the experimental and control group were not statistically significant at the 0.05 level of confidence. A <u>t</u> value equal to or greater than 2.048 would have been

necessary to exceed the 0.05 level of significance. Therefore, it was assumed that the achievement pretest scores of students in the experimental group were not significantly greater than the control group.

Conclusions

There were three major conclusions:

- 1. Students' spelling academic scores were significantly greater when utilizing the "WSISIM" rather than the
 "TSM".
- 2. Children's spelling retention scores were significantly greater when applying the "WSISIM" as opposed to the "TSM".
- 3. Boys' and girls' spelling achievement scores were not significantly different when instructed by the "WSISIM".

These three conclusions of the empirical research were consistent with the literature. However, future research should devote more attention to individual teacher differences when utilizing the "WSISIM". A major problem would be the establishment of an accurate measure of teacher expectations with respect to students' ability level. Once established, this measure could then be correlated with teacher behavior utilizing the "WSISIM" and students' spelling achievement.

The mean retention test scores revealed a mean difference of 7.6 points between the experimental and control group. The mean total raw score of the experimental group was only slightly higher than that of the control

group. As stated earlier, there was no significant difference between the two groups on the retention test. The standard deviation and variance of the two groups were also approximately the same.

Examining the differences between the mean posttest scores of the boys and girls in the experimental group revealed a difference of 14.06 points. Further examination between the boys and girls in the experimental group showed that although the mean scores were approximately the same, the standard deviation of scores for the boys was greater than that of the girls by a difference of 8.66 points. Therefore, the scores of the boys were slightly more spread out around the mean than those of the girls in the experimental group.

Recommendations

A number of recommendations are being made as a result of the study.

- 1. It is recommended that the spelling teaching technique be duplicated, since it is the first study conducted utilizing the "WSISIM".
- 2. It is recommended that the present research study be duplicated with other more diverse populations. There is a lack of research documenting how the "WSISIM" versus the "TSM" affects spelling achievement with various Populations.
- 3. It is recommended that in replicating the present research with other samples teacher expectation be documented

by reliable and valid measuring instruments. It is entirely possible that teacher expectations may have influenced the results of this study.

- 4. It is recommended that greater emphasis in future studies be placed on individual teacher differences and the role they play in influencing the various relationships researched in the present study. What teacher behaviors influence spelling achievement regardless of methodology used (for example, the belief that all students can learn)?
- 5. It is recommended that this study be replicated utilizing both treatments with the same teacher to alleviate teacher differences.
- 6. It is recommended that if the study is carried out by the same teacher one school year should be devoted to the "WSISIM" and another year to the "TSM". This would help to avoid the influence of change during the same year.
- 7. It is recommended that the study be carried out over a longer period of time to measure spelling retention.
- 8. It is recommended that replicated studies be conducted at least a year after the implementation of the treatment to avoid the effects of the new methodology's initial influence on students' learning (i.e. motivation).
- 9. It is recommended that the implications of the present study be made available to and used by teacher training institutions. Teachers should be aware of teaching techniques/principles useful for enhancing the learning process.

Works Cited

- Baldwin, Ronald Fred. The Effect of Teacher In-Service Training and Knowledge of Research on Spelling Instruction and Achievement of Elementary School Children. ERIC, 1975. ED 123 656.
- Beers, Carol S., and James Beers. "Three Assumptions About Learning to Spell." <u>Language Arts</u> 58 (May 1981): 573-580.
- Broderus, Bruce, Dale G. Shaw, and Douglas S. Burron.

 Achievement Gains of Fifth Grade Pupils Taught by

 Teachers Using the Essentials of Instruction: A Pilot

 Study. ERIC, 1985. ED 269 415.
- Brothers, Alleen, and Cora Holsclaw. "Fusing Behavior into Spelling." Elementary English XLVI (Jan. 1969): 25-28.
- Caban, Juan P., et al. "Mental Imagery as an Approach to Spelling Instruction." The Journal of Experimental Education 46 (Spring 1978): 15-21.
- Cripps, C. C. The Question of Spelling. In Elliott, C., and Anderson, J. (eds.) <u>Literacy-A Focus on the Future</u>. Proceeding of the First Australian Reading Conference-Adelaide 1975. Australia: South Australia Reading Association, 1975.
- Cronnell, Bruce, and Ann Humes. "Elementary Spelling:
 What's Really Taught." The Elementary School Journal
 81 (Sept. 1980): 59-65.
- DeHaven, Edna P. <u>Teaching and Learning the Language Arts</u>,
 Third Edition. Glenview: Scott, Foresman/Little, Brown
 College Division, 1988.
- Dieterich, D. Diserroneosospellingitis or the fine (language) art of spelling. Elementary English 1973, 49, 245-253.
- Downing, John, et al. "Children's Views of Spelling." The English School Journal 85 (Nov. 1984): 184-198.

- Fehring, Heather. Learning to Spell: The Role of Visual Memory. Victoria Education Dept. (Australia).
- Fernald, Grace. Remedial Techniques in Basic School Subjects. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1943.
- Fitzgerald, James A. The Teaching of Spelling. Milwaukee:
- Fulton, Martha J., and N. J. Paterson. "An Experiment in Teaching Spelling." Journal of Genetic Psychology 21 (1914): 287-289.
- Furness, Edna L. <u>Seven Signs of a Successful Speller</u>. ED 146 627 (1976): 1-8.
- Ganschow, Leonore. "Discovering Children's Learning Strategies for Spelling through Error Pattern Analysis."

 The Reading Teacher 34 (March 1981):676-680.
- ---. "Analyze Error Patterns to Remediate Severe Spelling Difficulties." Reading Teacher 38 (Dec. 1984): 288-293.
- Gates, Arthur I. "An Experimental Comparison of the Study-Test and Test-Study Method in Spelling." <u>Journal of</u> <u>Educational Psychology</u> 23 (Jan. 1931): 1-19.
- Gates, Arthur I., and D. H. Russell. <u>Diagnostic and Remedial Spelling Manual</u>. Columbia, New York Bureau of Publication Teachers' College, 1940.
- Gee, Thomas C. "Students' Responses to Teacher Comments."

 Research in the Teaching of English 6 (Fall 1972):

 212-219.
- Gentry, Richard J. "Developmental Aspects of Learning to Spell." Academic Therapy 20 (Sept. 1984): 11-19.
- Gettinger, Maribeth. "Applied Learning Principles to Remedial Spelling Instruction." Academic Therapy 20 (Sept. 1984): 41-48.
- ---. "Effects of Teacher-Directed Versus Student-Directed Instruction and Cues Versus No Cues for Improving Spelling Performance." Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis 18 (Summer 1985): 167-176.

- Gillingham, Anna, and Bessie Stillman. Remedial Training for Children with Specific Disabilities in Reading, Spelling and Penmanship, 7th Ed. Mass.: Educators Publishing Service, Inc., 1968.
- Gilstrap, Robert. "The Development of Independent Spelling Skills in the Intermediate Grades." Elementary English 39 (May 1962): 481-483.
- Graham, Steve. "Effective Spelling Instruction."

 Elementary School Journal 83 (May 1983): 560-567.
- Graham, Steve, and Lamoine Miller. "Spelling Research and Practice A Unified Approach." Focus on Exceptional Children 12 (Oct. 1979): 1-16.
- Greedy, Patricia S. "What Research Tells Us About Spelling." Elementary English 52 (Feb. 1975): 233-236.
- Greene, Haury A., ed., and Walter T. Petty, ed. <u>Developing</u>

 <u>Language Skills in the Elementary School</u>. Boston:

 Allyn and Bacon, 1959.
- Hanna, Paul R., Richard E. Hodges, and Jean S. Hanna.

 Spelling Structure and Strategies. Boston: HoughtonMifflin, 1971.
- Hendrickson, Homer. "Spelling a Visual Skill." Academic Therapy Quarterly 3 (1967): 39-42.
- Hildreth, Gertrude. <u>Teaching Spelling: A Guide to Basic</u>
 Principles and Practices. New York: Henry Holt, 1956.
- Hillerich, Robert L. "Let's Teach Spelling Not Phonetic Misspelling." Language Arts 54 (March 1977): 301-307.
- Horn, Ernest. "Principles of Method in Teaching Spelling as Derived from Scientific Investigation." The Eighteenth Yearbook 18 (1919): 52-77.
- ---. <u>Teaching Spelling</u>. Washington: National Education Association, 1954.
- Teaching Spelling, 3rd Ed. Washington: National Education Association, 1967.
- Horng, Ruey-Yan. The Interactive Effects of Imagery
 Learning Strategy and Originality of Learning and
 Long-Term Retention. In Eric Klinger (ed.), Imagery
 Concept, Results and Applications. New York: Plenum,
 1981.

- Johnson, Terry D., Kenneth G. Langford, and Kerry C. Quorn. "Characteristics of an Effective Spelling Program."

 Language Arts 58 (May 1981): 581-588.
- Jorm, Anthony F. The Psychology of Reading and Spelling
 Disabilities. London: Poutledge and Kegan Paul, 1983.
- Kline, Linus W. "A Study of the Psychology of Spelling."

 Journal of Educational Psychology 3 (1913): 381-400.
- Kuhn, Jerry N., and Howard H. Schroeder. "A Multi-Sensory Approach to Teaching Spelling." Elementary English 48 (Nov. 1971): 863-869.
- Lesiak, Judi, Walter J. Lesiak, and Jay Kirchheimer.

 "Auditory and Visual Factors Related to Spelling
 Success." Psychology in the Schools 16 (Oct. 1979):
- Lutz, Elaine. "ERIC/RCS Report: ED 272-922. Invented Spelling and Spelling Development." ERIC Digest 63 (Nov. 1986). ERIC Clearinghouse on Reading and Communication Skills, Urbana, Ill. (1986): 1-3.
- Marino, Jacqueline L. "What Makes a Good Speller?" Language Arts 57 (Feb. 1980): 173-177.
- Marsha, George, et. al. The Development of Strategies in Spelling. In Frith, U. (ed.) Cognitive Process in Spelling. London: Academic Press, 1980.
- Michael, Brunette A. An Annotated Bibliography of the Literature Dealing with the Methods of Teaching Spelling in Elementary School. ED 280 041 (April 1986): 1-40.
- Morris, Darrell. Meeting the Needs of Poor Spellers in the Elementary School: A Development Perspective.

 Occasional Paper No. 14. Evanston, Ill.: National College of Education Reading Center, 1986.
- Morton, L. L. "Education and Psychometric Implications of Preinstructional Spelling Proficiency at the Grade Four Level." Canadian Journal for Exceptional Children 2 (1985): 25-29.
- National Council of Teachers in English. The English

 Language Arts. A Report of the Commission on the
 English Curriculum, ED. New York: Appleton CenturyCrafts, 1952.

- National Educational Products Information Exchange Institute.

 Report on a National Study of the Nature and the
 Quality of Instructional Materials Most Used by Teachers
 and Learners. Report No. 76, New York: Educational
 Products Information Exchange Institute, 1976.
- Nichols, Augusta M. "The Analysis and Correction of Spelling Difficulties." The Elementary School Journal Vol. L (Nov. 1949): 154-161.
- Nicholson, Tom, and Sumner Schachter. "Spelling Skill and Teaching Practice--Putting Them Back Together Again." Language Arts 56 (Oct. 1979).
- Personke, Carl, and Albert H. Yee. "A Model for the Analysis of Spelling Behavior." <u>Elementary English</u> XLIII (March 1966): 278-287.
- Peters, Margaret L. <u>Spelling: Caught or Taught?</u> New York: Humanities Press, 1967.
- ---. Success in Spelling: A Study of the Factors Affecting
 Improvement in Spelling in the Junior School. Great
 Britain: W. Heffer and Sons, Ltd., 1970.
- Radaker, Leon D. "The Effect of Visual Imagery Upon Spelling Performance." The Journal of Educational Research 56 (March 1963): 370-372.
- Radebaugh, Muriel R. "Children's Perception of Their Spelling Strategies." The Reaching Teacher 38 (Feb. 1985): 532-536.
- Ragan, William B. Modern Elementary Curriculum. New York: Holt, Rinehart, Winston, 1966.
- Read, Charles, and Richard E. Hodges. "Spelling."

 <u>Encyclopedia of Educational Research 5th Edition</u>,

 (1970): 1758-1767.
- Richmond, Arnie E. "Children's Spelling Needs and Implications of Research." <u>Elementary English</u> 33 (Jan.-Dec. 1956): 500-505.
- Russell, David H. Characteristics of Good and Poor

 Spellers: A Diagnostic Study. New York City Bureau of Publications, Teachers College, Columbia University, 1937.

- Schonell, Fred J., Ph.D. <u>Backwardness in the Basic Subjects</u>. London: Oliver and Boyd, 1942.
- Sears, Nedra C., and Dale M. Johnson. "The Effects of Visual Imagery on Spelling Performance and Retention Among Elementary Students." <u>Journal of Educational Research</u> 79 (March/April 1986): 230-233.
- Simon, Dorothea P., and Herbert A. Simon. "Alternative Uses of Phonemic Information in Spelling." Review of Educational Research 43 (Winter 1973): 115-137.
- Stoodt, Barbara D. <u>Teaching Language Arts</u>. New York: Harper & Row, 1988.
- Strickland, Ruth. "Utilizing Spelling Research." Childhood Education 32 (Oct. 1955): 69-76.
- Temple, Charles, and Jean Wallace Gillet. <u>Language Arts</u>
 <u>Learning Process and Teaching Practices, Second Edition</u>.
 <u>Glenview: Scott, Foresman, 1989</u>.
- Watson, Alice E., Ph.D. Experimental Studies in the Psychology and Pedagogy of Spelling. New York City Bureau of Publications, Teachers College, Columbia University, 1935.
- Westerman, Gayl S. <u>Spelling and Writing</u>. San Rafael, CA: Dimensions, 1971.
- Williamson, Edmund G. "The Relation of Learning to Spelling Ability." <u>Journal of Educational Psychology</u> 29 (April, 1933): 257-265.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

Experimental Group Spelling Lesson Plans

Activities for Monday:

- Administer pretest over spelling words in weekly lesson to students. (Each word will be stated, used in the given sentence and restated by the teacher, giving students time to write the words on paper. No words will be repeated after the test.)
- 2. The teacher reads the words to the student and assists individual students (if necessary) in reading the words correctly to the class. (Words are displayed for all students to see and pointed to as they are read.)
- 3. (a) The teacher and/or individual students define and use each spelling word in a sentence correctly for the class. Each word is "pointed out" as it is discussed, (for example, a child or teacher may point to the word, underline the word or place a marker by the word).
 - (b) Students are directed and assisted in locating some of the definitions of unfamiliar words in the spelling book glossary or dictionary. Individual students share these definitions with the class.
 - (c) Sentences and/or definitions are written for words students are unfamiliar with and displayed for all students to see and read.
- 4. The teacher checks to see if students can read the spelling words by asking students to read various words.
- 5. The teacher checks to see if students know the meaning of the spelling words. This is done by one or a combination of the following activities:
 - (a) The students write a correct sentence and/or definition on the chalkboard, overhead projector or chart, for the spelling word. (The teacher may write the students' sentences or definitions.)

- (b) Students will write a sentence with a spelling word(s) to create a story on the (The teacher may write the students'
 (c) The student
- (c) The students write sentences and/or definitions with the spelling words on their sentence strips and share them with the
- (d) Some students and/or the teacher will write sentences or definitions for the rest of the class to supply the missing spelling word, (on the chalkboard, overhead projector, chart or sentence strips).
- (e) The students supply missing spelling words from prepared short stories or passages. Then they will share their answers with the class and tell why they fit in the sentence.

Activities for Tuesday:

- Complete items number 4 and 5 from Monday with the remainder of the spelling words.
- 2. The teacher directs the whole class through the word-study practice for each spelling word, using the overhead projector. The steps are:
 - (a) Look at the word on the overhead projector, carefully.
 - (b) Pronounce the word correctly.
 - (c) Discuss the features of the words, examine their similarities and differences compared to other words, examine sound-symbol association and practice spelling words by syllables or morphemes, apply generalizations or orthographic rules if applicable, focus on the words' hard spots (highlight them with colored markers) and develop mnemonic devices to help students remember how to spell the words (example, a friend till the end), etc. Refer to teacher's spelling manual for suggestions.
 - (d) Close eyes and try to picture the word in your mind as if the black letters are on a large white outdoor screen. Other suggested activities to keep the image stabilized:
 - Imagine the word is created from large metallic letters with holes punched in the top and bottom to accommodate "fantasy nails" and stabilize the image.
 - Imagine "fantasy paste" being applied to the backs of the letters to glue the word in place.

- Shine a "fantasy floodlight" on the image of the word until it is fixed in the mind.
- (e) Try to keep the word in your mind for about word in your mind) on your desk, with your
- (f) Open eyes and check image with original
- (g) Write the word on your paper without looking and check to see if your spelling is correct.
- (h) Continue steps (d) through (g) four more times, and if necessary, repeat steps (a) through (c) also. Remind students that this is a self-study technique for learning new or difficult words.

Activities for Wednesday:

- Complete item number 2 from Tuesday with the remaining spelling words.
- The teacher dictates sentences with half the spelling words, to the student. (Sentences may contain more than one spelling word.)
- 3. The teacher directs the students as a group and individually to check the spelling of some of the spelling words using the dictionary. The teacher monitors, teaches dictionary skills and the process of elimination to locate misspelled spelling words. Then the students are given the correct spelling for the remaining words to check their spelling. Students are directed to correct all misspelled words.
- 4. The students take a practice posttest given by the teacher and self-check their spelling words as a group. (Teacher calls on students to spell the words correctly. Teacher or individual students write the word on the chalkboard, chart or overhead projector for all students to check their own spelling for the word, visually, too.)
- 5. The students use the word-study method to practice spelling the words missed. (Students are monitored by the teacher walking around the room and individually checking to see if they are using the word-study method correctly. Assistance is given to help students follow the steps correctly.)

Activities for Thursday:

- The teacher dictates sentences with the second half of the spelling words to the students.
- Follow steps 3 through 5 from Wednesday.

Activities for Friday:

- 1. The teacher directs the students to study their spelling words for the first seven minutes of spelling class. (Students are monitored by the teacher walking around and individually checking to see if they are using the word-study method correctly. Assistance is given to help students follow the steps correctly.)
- 2. The students take their posttest over the spelling words in the weekly lesson. Each word will be stated, used in a sentence and restated by the teacher, giving students time to write the words on their papers. No words will be restated after the test.

Materials for Monday-Friday:

- 1. Teacher's spelling manuals
- 2. Students' dictionaries or spelling book glossaries
- 3. Students' paper and pencils
- 4. Chart with spelling words
- 5. Chalkboard and chalk, overhead projector, sentence strips and/or chart paper
- 6. Markers

APPENDIX B

Control Group Spelling Lesson Plans

Activities for Monday:

- 1. Administer pretest over spelling words in weekly lesson to students. (Each word will be stated, used in the given sentence and restated by the teacher, giving students time to write the words on their paper. No words will be repeated after the test.)
- The teacher discusses the rule(s) or generalization(s) for the weekly spelling words.
- 3. The teacher explains directions from the students spelling textbook for their daily lesson.
- 4. Students are directed to complete approximately half of the weekly textbook exercises for the lesson in written form.
- 5. The teacher checks the students' work and returns it with corrections if necessary.

Activities for Tuesday:

- The teacher explains directions from the students' spelling textbook for their daily lesson.
- Students are directed to complete the weekly textbook exercises for the lesson in written form.
- 3. The teacher checks the students' work and returns it with corrections if necessary.

Activities for Wednesday:

- The students are directed to write definitions with their spelling words.
- The teacher checks by making spelling corrections, etc. and returns them to the students the following school day.

Activities for Thursday:

- The students are directed to write sentences with some of their spelling words.
- The students are directed to study their spelling words by writing them five times each.
- 3. The teacher checks the students' sentences and makes necessary corrections, then returns the students' paper the following school day.

Activities for Friday:

- The teacher directs the students to study their spelling words for the first seven minutes of spelling class. (Students are monitored by the teacher walking around and individually checking to see if students are studying the words in some manner.)
- 2. The students take their posttest over the spelling words in the weekly lesson. Each word will be stated, used in a sentence and restated by the teacher, giving students time to write the words on their papers. No words will be restated after the test.

Materials for Monday-Friday:

- Teacher's spelling manuals
- 2. Students' spelling books
- 3. Students' dictionaries or spelling book glossaries
- 4. Students' paper and pencils

APPENDIX C

Comparison of the Spelling Procedures for the Experimental and the Control Group

Experimental

Versus

Control

1. Time initially is spent making sure students understand the meaning of the words. Students practice stating the words correctly, seeing them written and writing them.

- 2. Students write words using a teacher directed and monitored word-study method.
- 3. Sentence dictation requires students to retrieve the spelling words from memory.
- 4. Students learn how to self check, to see if their words are spelled correctly and identify their definitions using the dictionary or spelling book glossary.

- 1. Time initially is spent making sure students understand directions in the basal to complete their spelling lesson independently. The teacher reads the spelling words to students. Little teacher checking or student practice is provided to determine if students understand the words or their ability to spell them.
- Students write words independently, given no word-study method to use.
- Independent sentence writing requires students only to copy spelling words.
- 4. Students learn how to copy their spelling words and definitions from the spelling book glossary or dictionary.

- 5. Frequent practice tests to retrieve words from memory.
- 6. Teacher direction and monitoring of all spelling activities.

- No or few practice tests.
- Limited teacher direction and monitoring of spelling activities.

ro

gress

Chart

Bibliography

- Anderson, Richard C., and Raymond W. Kulhavy. "Imagery and Prose Learning." <u>Journal of Educational Psychology</u> 63 (June 1972): 242-243.
- Anderson, Richard C., and Janet L. Hidole. "Imagery and Sentence Learning." <u>Journal of Educational Psychology</u> 62 (December 1971): 526-530.
- Baldwin, Ronald Fred. The Effect of Teacher In-Service
 Training and Knowledge of Research on Spelling
 Instruction and Achievement of Elementary School
 Children. ERIC, 1975. ED 123 656.
- Bannatyne, Alex, and Penny Wichiarajot. "Relationship Between Written Spelling and Motor Functioning and Sequencing Spelling." <u>Journal of Learning Disabilities</u> 2 (January 1969): 4-16.
- Beers, Carol S., and James Beers. "Three Assumptions About Learning to Spell." <u>Language Arts</u> 58 (May 1981): 573-580.
- Blanchard, Gervase M. An Experimental Comparison of the Test-Study and the Study-Test Method of Teaching Spelling in the Eighth Grade. Unpublished Dissertation. New York: Forham University Graduate School, 1944.
- Bower, Gordon H. "Mental Imagery and Association Learning."
 In Lee Gregg (Ed.) Cognition in Learning and Memory.
 New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1973.
- Broderus, Bruce, Dale G. Shaw, and Douglas S. Burron.

 Achievement Gains of Fifth Grade Pupils Taught by

 Teachers Using the Essentials of Instruction: A Pilot

 Study. ERIC, 1985. ED 269 415.
- Brothers, Alleen, and Cora Holsclaw. "Fusing Behavior into Spelling." <u>Elementary English</u> XLVI (January 1969): 25-28.
- Caban, Juan P., et al. "Mental Imagery as an Approach to Spelling Instruction." The Journal of Experimental Education 46 (Spring 1978): 15-21.

- Cripps, C. C. The Question of Spelling. In Elliott, C., and Anderson, J. (eds.) <u>Literacy--A Focus on the Future</u>. Proceeding of the First Australian Reading Conference--Adelaide 1975. Australia: South Australia Reading Association, 1975.
- Cronnell, Bruce, and Ann Humes. "Elementary Spelling: What's Really Taught." The Elementary School Journal 81 (September 1980): 59-65.
- Davis, Emerson. "Orthography Cause of Bad Spelling and the Remedymode of Spelling." The Common School Journal 1 (November 1939): 26-29.
- DeHaven, Edna P. <u>Teaching and Learning the Language Arts</u>, <u>Third Edition</u>. Glenview: Scott, Foresman/Little, Brown College Division, 1988.
- Dieterich, D. Diserroneosospellingitis or the fine (language) art of spelling. <u>Elementary English</u>, 1973, 49, 245-253.
- Downing, John, et al. "Children's Views of Spelling." The English School Journal 85 (November 1984): 184-198.
- Ediger, Marlow. "Objectives in the Language Arts Area of Spelling." Elementary English 52 (February 1975): 237-238.
- Fehring, Heather. <u>Learning to Spell: The Role of Visual</u>
 Memory. Victoria Education Dept. (Australia).
 ED 237 982 (January 1983): 1-61.
- Fernald, Grace. Remedial Techniques in Basic School Subjects. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1943.
- Fitzgerald, James A. The Teaching of Spelling. Milwaukee: Bruce, 1951.
- Fitzgerald, James A. "The Teaching of Spelling." Elementary English 30 (1953): 79-85.
- Frith, Uta. <u>Cognitive Processes in Spelling</u>. New York: Academic Press, 1980.
- Fulton, Martha J., and N. J. Paterson. "An Experiment in Teaching Spelling." <u>Journal of Genetic Psychology</u> 21 (1914): 287-289.
- Furness, Edna L. <u>Seven Signs of a Successful Speller</u>. ED 146 627 (1976): 1-8.

- Ganschow, Leonore. "Discovering Children's Learning Strategies for Spelling through Error Pattern Analysis." The Reading Teacher 34 (March 1981): 676-680.
- ---. "Analyze Error Patterns to Remediate Severe Spelling Difficulties." Reading Teacher 38 (December 1984):
- Gates, Arthur I. "An Experimental Comparison of the Study-Test and Test-Study Method in Spelling." Journal of Educational Psychology 23 (January 1931): 1-19.
- Gates, Arthur I., and D. H. Russell. Diagnostic and Remedial Spelling Manual. Columbia, New York Bureau of Publication Teachers' College, 1940.
- Gee, Thomas C. "Students' Responses to Teacher Comments." Research in the Teaching of English 6 (Fall 1972):
- Gentry, Richard J. "Developmental Aspects of Learning to Spell." Academic Therapy 20 (September 1984): 11-19.
- Gettinger, Maribeth. "Applied Learning Principles to Remedial Spelling Instruction." Academic Therapy 20 (September 1984): 41-48.
- "Effects of Teacher-Directed Versus Student-Directed Instruction and Cues Versus No Cues for Improving Spelling Performance." Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis 18 (Summer 1985): 167-176.
- Gillingham, Anna, and Bessie Stillman. Remedial Training for Children with Specific Disabilities in Reading, Spelling and Penmanship, 7th Ed. Mass.: Educators Publishing Service, Inc., 1968.
- Gilstrap, Robert. "The Development of Independent Spelling Skills in the Intermediate Grades." Elementary English 39 (May 1962): 481-483.
- Graham, Steve. "Effective Spelling Instruction." Elementary School Journal 83 (May 1983): 560-567.
- Graham, Steve, and Lamoine Miller. "Spelling Research and Practice A Unified Approach." Focus on Exceptional Children 12 (October 1979): 1-16.
- Gray, William S. "Principles of Methods of Teaching Reading as Derived from Scientific Investigation." The Eighteenth Yearbook 18 (1919): 26-51.

- Greedy, Patricia S. "What Research Tells Us About Spelling."
 Elementary English 52 (February 1975): 233-236.
- Greene, Haury A., Ph.D. The New Iowa Spelling Scale.
 Iowa: State University of Iowa, 1954.
- Greene, Haury A., ed., and Walter T. Petty, ed. <u>Developing</u>

 <u>Language Skills in the Elementary School</u>. Boston:
- Hanna, Paul R., Richard E. Hodges, and Jean S. Hanna.

 Spelling Structure and Strategies. Boston: HoughtonMifflin, 1971.
- Hendrickson, Homer. "Spelling a Visual Skill." <u>Academic</u>
 Therapy Quarterly 3 (1967): 39-42.
- Hesse, Karl D., James W. Robinson, and Richard Rankin.

 "Retention and Transfer from the Morphomically Based Direct Instruction Spelling Program in Junior High."

 Journal of Educational Research 76 (May-June 1983):

 276-279.
- Hildreth, Gertrude. <u>Teaching Spelling: A Guide to Basic</u> <u>Principles and Practices</u>. New York: Henry Holt, 1956.
- Hillerich, Robert L. "Let's Teach Spelling Not Phonetic Misspelling." Language Arts 54 (March 1977): 301-307.
- Hirshoren, Alfred. "A Comparison of the Predictive Validity of the Revised Stanford-Binet Intelligence Scale and the Illinois Test of Psycholinguistic Abilities." Exceptional Children 35 (March 1969): 517-521.
- Horn, Ernest. "Principles of Method in Teaching Spelling as Derived from Scientific Investigation." The Eighteenth Yearbook 18 (1919): 52-77.
- ---. <u>Teaching Spelling</u>. Washington: National Education Association, 1954.
- ---. "Phonetics and Spelling." The Elementary School Journal 57 (May 1957): 424-432.
- Teaching Spelling, 3rd Ed. Washington: National Education Association, 1967.
- Horn, Thomas D. "The Effects of the Corrected Test on Learning to Spell." The Elementary School Journal 47 (January 1947): 277-285.

- ---. "Research Critiques." Elementary English 46 (February 1969): 207-212.
- Horng, Ruey-Yan. The Interactive Effects of Imagery
 Learning Strategy and Originality of Learning and
 Long-Term Retention. In Eric Klinger (ed.), Imagery
 Concept, Results and Applications. New York: Plenum,
- Johnson, Doris J., and Helmer R. Myklebust. <u>Learning</u>

 <u>Disabilities</u>, <u>Educational Principles</u> and <u>Practices</u>.

 New York: Grume and Statton, 1967.
- Johnson, Terry D., Kenneth G. Langford, and Kerry C. Quorn. "Characteristics of an Effective Spelling Program."

 Language Arts 58 (May 1981): 581-588.
- Jorm, Anthony F. The Psychology of Reading and Spelling
 Disabilities. London: Poutledge and Kegan Paul, 1983.
- Jorm, Anthony F., and Colin Schoknecht. "Role of Visual Word-Recognition Checks in Children's Spelling."

 <u>Australia Journal of Psychology</u> 33 (1981): 393-403.
- Kaufman, Geir. <u>Visual Imagery and its Relation to Problem Solving</u>. Norway: Reklamelrykk, A.S., 1979.
- Kirchheimer, Gay. "Auditory and Visual Factors Related to Spelling Success." <u>Psychology in Schools</u> 16 (October 1979): 491-494.
- Kline, Linus W. "A Study of the Psychology of Spelling."

 Journal of Educational Psychology 3 (1913): 381-400.
- Kuhn, Jerry N., and Howard H. Schroeder. "A Multi-Sensory Approach to Teaching Spelling." <u>Elementary English</u> 48 (November 1971): 863-869.
- Lesiak, Judi, Walter J. Lesiak, and Jay Kirchheimer.

 "Auditory and Visual Factors Related to Spelling Success."

 Psychology in the Schools 16 (October 1979): 491-494.
- Loftus, Geoffrey R., and Elizabeth F. Loftus, Ed. <u>Human</u>

 <u>Memory the Processing of Information</u>. New Jersey:

 Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 1976.
- Lutz, Elaine. "ERIC/RCS Report: ED 272 922. Invented Spelling and Spelling Development." ERIC Digest 63 (November 1986). ERIC Clearinghouse on Reading and Communication Skills, Urbana, Ill. (1986): 1-3.

- Lydiatt, Steve. "Error Detection and Correction on Spelling." Academic Therapy 20 (September 1984): 33-40.
- Marino, Jacqueline L. "What Makes a Good Speller?" Language Arts 57 (February 1980): 173-177.
- Marsha, George, et al. The Development of Strategies in Spelling. In Frith, U. (ed.) Cognitive Process in Spelling. London: Academic Press, 1980.
- Mason, Geoffrey P. "Word Discrimination Drills." The Journal of Educational Research 55 (September 1961):
- Michael, Brunette A. An Annotated Bibliography of the Literature Dealing with the Methods of Teaching Spelling in Elementary School. ED 280 041 (April 1986): 1-40.
- Moorhouse, Catherine. Helping Adults Spell. London: The Adult Literacy and Basic Skills Unit, Kingsbourne House, 1986.
- Morris, Darrell. Meeting the Needs of Poor Spellers in the Elementary School: A Development Perspective.
 Occasional Paper No. 14. Evanston, Ill.: National College of Education - Reading Center, 1986.
- Morton, L. L. "Education and Psychometric Implications of Preinstructional Spelling Proficiency at the Grade Four Level." Canadian Journal for Exceptional Children 2 (1985): 25-29.
- National Council of Teachers in English. The English Language Arts. A Report of the Commission on the English Curriculum, ED. New York: Appleton Century-Crafts, 1952.
- National Educational Products Information Exchange Institute. Report on a National Study of the Nature and the Quality of Instructional Materials Most Used by Teachers and Learners. Report No. 76, New York: Educational Products Information Exchange Institute, 1976.
- Nichols, Augusta M. "The Analysis and Correction of Spelling Difficulties." The Elementary School Journal Vol. L (November 1949): 154-161.

- Nicholson, Tom, and Sumner Schachter. "Spelling Skill and Teaching Practice--Putting Them Back Together Again."
- Paivio, Allan. "Mental Imagery in Associative Learning and Memory." Psychological Review 76 (May 1969): 241-263.
- Paivio, Allan, and John C. Yuille. "Mediation Instruction and Word Attributes in Paired-Associate Learning."

 Psychonomic Science 8 (1967): 65-66.
- Personke, Carl, and Albert H. Yee. "A Model for the Analysis of Spelling Behavior." Elementary English XLIII (March 1966): 278-287.
- Peters, Margaret L. <u>Spelling: Caught or Taught</u>? New York:
- ---. Success in Spelling: A Study of the Factors Affecting Improvement in Spelling in the Junior School. Great Britain: W. Heffer and Sons, Ltd., 1970.
- Radaker, Leon D. "The Effect of Visual Imagery Upon Spelling Performance." The Journal of Educational Research 56 (March 1963): 370-372.
- Radebaugh, Muriel R. "Children's Perception of Their Spelling Strategies." <u>The Reaching Teacher</u> 38 (February 1985): 532-536.
- Ragan, William B. <u>Modern Elementary Curriculum</u>. New York: Holt, Rinehart, Winston, 1966.
- Read, Charles, and Richard E. Hodges. "Spelling." <u>Encyclopedia of Educational Research 5th Edition</u>, (1970): 1758-1767.
- Richmond, Arnie E. "Children's Spelling Needs and Implications of Research." <u>Elementary English</u> 33 (January-December 1956): 500-505.
- Russell, David H. Characteristics of Good and Poor

 Spellers: A Diagnostic Study. New York City Bureau of
 Publications, Teachers College, Columbia University,
 1937.
- Schonell, Fred J., Ph.D. <u>Backwardness in the Basic Subjects</u>. London: Oliver and Boyd, 1942.

- Sears, Nedra C., and Dale M. Johnson. "The Effects of Visual Imagery on Spelling Performance and Retention Among Elementary Students." <u>Journal of Educational Research</u> 79 (March/April 1986): 230-233.
- Simon, Dorothea P., and Herbert A. Simon. "Alternative Uses of Phonemic Information in Spelling." Review of Educational Research 43 (Winter 1973): 115-137.
- Simon, Dorothea P. "Spelling--A Task Analysis."

 <u>Instructional Science</u> 5 (1976): 277-302.
- Stoodt, Barbara D. <u>Teaching Language Arts</u>. New York: Harper & Row, 1988.
- Strickland, Ruth. "Utilizing Spelling Research." Childhood Education 32 (October 1955): 69-76.
- Taylor, Winnifred F., and Kenneth C. Hoedt. "The Effect of Praise Upon the Quality and Quantity of Creative Writing." The Journal of Educational Research 60 (October 1966): 80-83.
- Temple, Charles, and Jean Wallace Gillet. <u>Language Arts Learning Process and Teaching Practices, Second Edition</u>. Glenview: Scott, Foresman, 1989.
- Towery, Gene. "Spelling Instruction Through the Nineteenth Century." English Journal 68 (April 1979): 22-27.
- Ungaro, Don. "Imagineering the Spelling Process." The Clearing House 55 (May 1982): 400-405.
- Walker, B. S. "Vividness of Imagery and Spelling Errors."

 Perceptual and Motor Skills 39 (July 1974): 823-825.
- Watson, Alice E., Ph.D. <u>Experimental Studies in the Psychology and Pedagogy of Spelling</u>. New York City Bureau of Publications, Teachers College, Columbia University, 1935.
- Westerman, Gayl S. <u>Spelling and Writing</u>. San Rafael, CA: Dimensions, 1971.
- Williamson, Edmund G. "The Relation of Learning to Spelling Ability." <u>Journal of Educational Psychology</u> 29 (April 1933): 257-265.